

Carbon Project Ratings - Biochar Methodology

MSCI ESG Research

September 2024



Contents

1.	Methodology overview	4
	Objective	4
	Document description	4
2.	Introduction to carbon project integrity	5
	What is carbon credit integrity?	5
	The importance of assessing carbon credit integrity	5
	The key components of carbon project integrity assessment	6
3.	Introduction to biochar projects	8
	What are biochar projects?	8
	Market Overview	8
	Key integrity considerations	8
4.	Approach to assessing the integrity of biochar projects	10
5.	Criterion 1 – Additionality	13
	1.1.1.1 % of Revenue from Carbon Credits	16
	1.1.1.2 Internal Rate of Return (IRR) Analysis	18
	1.1.1.3 Prior Consideration	20
	1.2 Common Practice	23
	1.5 Baseline Reasonableness	24
6.	Criterion 2 – Quantification	27
	2.1.2 Transparency	28
	2.1.3 Project Approach	29
	2.2 Accuracy of Assumptions	31
	2.3 Monitoring Performance	34
7.	Criterion 3 - Permanence	36
	3.1.2.1.1 Stability	38
	3.1.2.1.2 Permanence Duration – Lifetime	40
8.	Criterion 4 – Co-benefits	44
	4.1.2.1 Project Intentions to Activities	45



11.	Change log	59
10.	Appendix – Key References	57
9.	Appendix – Soil Application Permanence	56
4	.3.2 Local Stakeholder Engagement	53
4	.3.1 Project and Registry Safeguards	51
4	2.2 Quantification of Outcomes	51



1. Methodology overview

Objective

MSCI Carbon Project Ratings are composite ratings that independently assess the integrity and risks of carbon credit projects across multiple criteria, including their impacts on the climate, environment and society.

A project with a higher rating has a greater likelihood of having a positive emissions impact and a reduced risk of overestimating its emissions impact. It is also more likely that such an emissions impact will have been implemented in a way that supports positive social and/or environmental outcomes and upholds legal and ethical standards. Consequently, a project with a higher rating has a lower likelihood of incurring reputational risks.

Document description

This document describes the detailed project type-specific methodology used to assess Carbon Project Ratings and Pipeline Carbon Project Ratings (but not Preliminary Carbon Project Ratings) for biochar projects.

This project type-specific methodology is applied in addition to, and partially in replacement of, the methodology that is described in the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology document, "MSCI Carbon Project Ratings and Assessments Methodology." Where an element of the overall methodology is replaced by this project type-specific methodology, it is detailed below. Every element of the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology also applies to MSCI ESG Research's assessment of Carbon Project Ratings and Pipeline Carbon Project Ratings for biochar projects unless explicitly excluded in this document.

Section 2 introduces the core concept of carbon credit integrity and why its assessment is important to the development of the global carbon credit market. Section 3 introduces and defines biochar projects. Sections 4-8 provide details on the project type-specific methodology, including data sources and assumptions, used in MSCI ESG Research's Carbon Project Ratings and Pipeline Carbon Project Ratings assessments for biochar projects.



2. Introduction to carbon project integrity

What is carbon credit integrity?

Carbon credits have varying quality characteristics. These stem from fundamental differences in project types, but also from which methodologies have been used to define each project and create the credits (these methodologies are among the standards set by carbon crediting programs, and are hereafter called crediting program methodologies) and how rigorously they have been applied. Projects also differ in terms of their potential co-benefits and their legal and ethical characteristics.

This variation in quality was not intended. Standard setting and governance bodies attempted to create a system in which all carbon credits had an equivalent climate benefit (representing a tonne of carbon dioxide equivalent [CO₂e] removed or avoided) which could be used for voluntary or compliance purposes. This effort dates back to the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) created under the 1997 Kyoto Protocol and has continued with the evolution of the carbon credit market.

A key challenge lies in the quantification of the climate benefit of a project - i.e., whether the carbon credits calculated for a project are genuinely equivalent to mitigating or removing one tonne of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere. This difficulty stems from the calculation method used to determine what would have happened in the absence of a project, i.e., in the "baseline" scenario (sometimes referred to as the "counterfactual" scenario).

Another difficulty is that projects differ hugely in age, size and technology. The science behind some crediting program methodologies has also evolved over time, as has the enforcement of standards and levels of governance.

Readers should note that, within the carbon markets, the words "quality" and "integrity" tend to be used interchangeably. Throughout the rest of this document, we use the word integrity when referring to carbon projects.

The importance of assessing carbon credit integrity

Corporate climate action is critical in the fight against climate change, and carbon credits represent an important mechanism for corporates to mitigate their carbon footprint. However, concerns over carbon credit integrity may have held back, and may continue to hold back, the global carbon credit market from reaching its potential. These concerns center around the perception that many carbon credits are of low integrity and are not delivering the benefits they claim to.

In 2021, the Taskforce for Scaling the Voluntary Carbon Market (TS-VCM) found that credit integrity was at the "heart of buyers' hesitancy,"¹ with 45% of buyers identifying it as a key pain point. Buyer concerns around credit integrity and the related risk of being accused of greenwashing due to the use of low-integrity credits have only grown since then. For example, some 55% of respondents to an April 2023 survey run by the Science-Based Targets Initiative (SBTi) stated that the risk of a greenwashing accusation was stopping them from buying more credits.²

Concerns over carbon credit integrity have been central to the creation of two major initiatives: the Integrity Council on the Voluntary Carbon Market (IC-VCM) and the Carbon Credit Quality Initiative (CCQI). The IC-VCM aims to create minimum standards of integrity with a set of Core Carbon

¹ "Taskforce on Scaling Voluntary Carbon Markets: Summary of the Public Consultation Report," ICVCM, June 3, 2021.

² "Beyond Value Chain Mitigation (BVCM) Research," SBTI_press_release, September 1, 2023.



Principles (CCPs), and the CCQI has developed a comprehensive scoring system for certain project types. Both initiatives primarily assess integrity at the project-type level (primarily based on a project's methodology used) or at the project-registry level (a project registry is an organization that registers mitigation activities and issues carbon credits for the emission reductions or removals achieved by the mitigation activities). Neither initiative assesses integrity at the individual-project level.

MSCI ESG Research's assessment methodology draws on the IC-VCM's and CCQI's approach to assessing integrity, building on their principles to apply a more in-depth evaluation of integrity at the individual-project level.

The key components of carbon project integrity assessment

Market approaches to assessing carbon project integrity typically focus on three main issues:

- A. Emissions impact integrity: How much CO₂e has been reduced/removed?
- B. Implementation integrity: How did that project reduce/remove that CO₂e?
- C. Usage integrity: How are the credits then reviewed and used?

Emissions impact integrity and implementation integrity can each be further broken down into three main areas of common concern. These are summarized in Figure 1, and outlined in detail below.

Emissions impact integrity, implementation integrity and usage integrity are each described in more detail in the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology document "MSCI Carbon Project Ratings and Assessments Methodology."



Figure 1: Key components of carbon project integrity

Carbon Credit Integrity

A. <u>Emissions Impact Integrity:</u> How much CO₂e has been reduced/removed?

B. Implementation Integrity: How did that project reduce/ remove that CO₂e?

1. Additionality	2. Quantification	3. Permanence	4. Co-Benefits	5. Legal and Ethical	6. Delivery Risks
How likely is it that the reduction/ removal of CO ₂ e would have occurred even in the absence of the incentives created by the carbon credit?	How likely is it that the actual CO ₂ e impact of the project has been accurately estimated?	How likely is it that the CO ₂ e reductions /removals achieved will not be reversed for a sufficiently long-term?	How likely is it that the project generated net sustainable development benefits beyond the CO ₂ e it reduced/ removed?	How likely is it that the project has been delivered by parties that have taken an ethical and legal approach to project implementation?	How likely is it that ex-ante credits will be issued in-line with expectations?
Additionality determines whether the carbon credits played a decisive role in the mitigation activity going ahead.	Quantification refers to how accurately and consistently (with other projects of a similar nature) the CO ₂ e impact of a project is measured.	Permanence refers to the likelihood that CO ₂ e reductions/ removals may be later reversed due to natural risks or human risks, such as project management.	Co-benefits considers the sustainable development (environmental and social) benefits and safeguards beyond the CO ₂ e it saves, that is its "externalities."	Legal and ethical risks assess whether a project is conducted in a way that is in full compliance with local and international law, and meets broadly accepted ethical standards.	The purchase of credits ex-ante introduces a delivery risk, that is the risk that a project does not deliver the CO ₂ e reductions/ removals it intends.

MSCI 💮

3. Introduction to biochar projects

What are biochar projects?

To date, the most prevalent means of extracting carbon dioxide from the atmosphere have involved nature-based solutions, such as planting trees and managing soils. While these nature-based assets can be deployed throughout the world, create valuable habitats for wildlife and provide resources for local communities, they suffer from one major drawback — risk of non-permanence. Carbon can be released back into the atmosphere if the vegetation is harvested, burnt or subject to other natural hazards such as pests. For this reason, there has been increased interest in "engineered" forms of carbon dioxide removal (CDR). These are techniques to permanently store carbon in geological or organic form. They include direct air capture, bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS), biochar and enhanced weathering.

Market Overview

Responding to interest from corporates and a supportive policy environment, innovation and investment in CDR have accelerated between 2021 and 2024.³ Biochar represents the most prominent type of CDR project currently in the market.

Though growth in biochar has recently increased, the substance itself has existed for centuries as a soil fertilizer. Biochar is the name of the end-product created through a process known as pyrolysis, in which dry organic materials undergo a thermal decomposition in an oxygen-free environment under very high temperatures (of 250-900°C). The dry organic materials usually come from waste biomass, which would otherwise have decayed naturally or been burnt. The charcoal-like end-product called biochar essentially stores and locks away the carbon dioxide.

Though projections during very nascent stages of market development come with high uncertainty, MSCI ESG Research's forecasting modelling indicates demand may grow to 240-380 kilotonnes (kt) of CO2e of carbon-credit retirements by 2030, which represents 10x growth compared to the current number of retirements.4

Key integrity considerations

Biochar is considered by some advocates⁵ a "high-integrity" removal technology but there are a number of important considerations that can significantly impact the integrity of a project. Assessing the integrity of biochar projects requires a detailed analysis of both the project's design and assumptions, with risks and opportunities primarily found in five main areas:

• **Financial additionality:** Biochar has a number of valuable end-uses beyond its sale as carbon credits. These alternative revenue streams alone can, in theory, support the profitable development and operation of biochar facilities in the future even without carbon credits. It

³ Source: MSCI Carbon Markets. Based on tracking of carbon market investments and the number of projects and transactions within different project subtypes.

⁴ As of November 2023, there were 36 registered biochar projects globally, primarily registered with the Puro Earth standard. Between August and October 2023, some 25 kt of CO₂ of biochar credits were sold (compared to 50 million issued credits across the Voluntary Carbon Market (VCM) as a whole).

⁵ Puro Earth (2022). "High Integrity for Carbon Removals"



is therefore crucial that projects demonstrate that carbon credits were required for the projects to be economically viable.

- **Carbon content quantification:** Biochar usually contains significant amounts of carbon, but the quantification of this is subject to some sampling and measurement risk.
- Life cycle emissions: The emissions associated with the biomass inputs and the transportation and processing of these inputs to produce biochar can regularly represent 20% of the total carbon sequestered by the biochar. These life cycle emissions must therefore be appropriately accounted for.
- **Duration:** The carbon storage characteristics of biochar can be highly stable, meaning biochar can act as a near permanent removals technology over a timeframe of up to 100 years. However, over a longer timeframe, there is risk of decomposition, which can vary significantly depending on factors such as the soil temperature and the pyrolysis temperature.
- Soil health impact: Biochar that is applied in soils can significantly boost soil health and resilience, and thereby improve the agricultural yield of land and the income of farmers. In this way, Biochar has the potential to deliver significant economic co-benefits to stakeholders.

MSCI ESG Research's assessment of biochar projects entails a detailed assessment of each of these five key risk areas for each individual biochar project.



4. Approach to assessing the integrity of biochar projects

MSCI ESG Research's assessment of biochar projects builds on the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology to provide more in-depth analysis of biochar projects. This project type-specific assessment includes sub-criteria that are additional to, and partially in replacement of, the subcriteria of assessment used in the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology, as detailed below. These project type-specific sub-criteria evaluate a deeper set of questions, which are focused on the most important, specific drivers of integrity for biochar projects.

These project type-specific assessments are conducted at the individual project level, including a comprehensive review of each individual project's data and assumptions. In this way, these assessments represent a more granular, project-level review of biochar projects than what would be possible using the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology alone.

In total, MSCI ESG Research assesses 12 sub-criteria and 20 topics (see Figure 3) under this project type-specific methodology that are either not assessed or are assessed differently in the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology, as illustrated in Figure 2. These sub-criteria are focused on addressing the key drivers of integrity for biochar projects. Each of these sub-criteria align with and replace corresponding sub-criteria scores in the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology.





1.5 Baseline Reasonableness



Figure 3: Biochar assessment framework

1. Additionality			2. Quantification			3. Permanence				4. Co-Benefits		
eness	1.1.1.1 % of Revenue	Does the project receive significant revenue from sources outside of carbon credits?	Tra	2.1.2 nsparency	Does the project transparently disclose key quantification details, approaches and assumptions?	tural Risk	Stability	Does the project consider and appropriately account for the stability of the stored carbon?	ities	Circularity	Does the project take a circular economy approach to production and post- production?	
ancial Attractiv	1.1.1.2 IRR Analysis	Do carbon credits decisively impact the project's financial attractiveness?	2.1 A	.3 Project pproach	Does the project use scientifically robust and independently verified methods to estimate key project assumptions?	3.1.2.1 Nat	Duration	Is the project's permanence duration reasonable and accurate?	1 Project Activ	Soil Health	Does the project have positive impacts on soil health, agriculture and the environments?	
1.1.1 Fin:	1.1.1.3 Prior Consideration	Is there any evidence that carbon credits were considered prior to the project start?	racy of	Carbon Content	Does the project's biomass and biochar properties appear accurate for the type of feedstock selected?	3.2 Co	2.2.1 Buffer Pool ontributions	Has the project appropriately accounted for and compensated for non-permanence risks?	4.1.2.	Livelihoods Impact	What is the size of the economic impact (jobs/economic impact) relative to the project's size?	
	1.1.2 Barrier Analysis	Are there any inherent barriers that carbon credits have helped to overcome?	2.2 Accu	Life Cycle Emissions	Does the project account for all energy vectors resulting from the production process and their respective end uses?				Qua	4.2.2 antification of Outcomes	Are these SDGs quantified and monitored over the project period?	
1.2 Common Practice		To what extent is the project activity first-of-its-kind in that area?	2.3 Per	Monitoring rformance	Does the project robustly monitor key quantification assumptions?				Juards	4.3.1 Mitigation	Has the project appropriately addressed and mitigated any negative effects identified?	
Re	1.5 Baseline asonableness	Does the baseline scenario appropriately account for the source, type and alternative use of the biomass?							4.3 Safeg	4.3.2 Local Stakeholder Engagement	Has the project conducted robust and effective local stakeholder engagement?	



Assessment of all other criteria and sub-criteria, for example, Criterion 5, Legal and Ethical Risks, and Sub-criterion 3.3, Compensation, within the biochar analysis use the same metrics and methodology as in the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology framework. The granularity of the overarching framework for those sub-criteria, and the fact that their assessment is consistent across all project types (i.e., with no biochar-specific characteristics), means that no further enhancement is required.



5. Criterion 1 – Additionality

If a mitigation activity is not additional, then purchasing carbon credits has not led to any additional reduction or removal of emissions. Additionality is therefore a crucial component of the integrity of carbon credits. A non-additional carbon credit has no direct net positive environmental impact given that the emission reductions/removals would have occurred anyway. However, it is worth noting that funding a non-additional credit may still indirectly help stimulate further investment in the same activity by raising its return.

The additionality of a project is not necessarily binary. Projects may be partly additional, where only a portion of emission reductions/removals are additional. For example, if, in the baseline scenario, some emission reductions would have been achieved anyway, but not as much as was achieved by the project, then only this difference in emission reductions is additional. If credits are issued for the total emission reductions rather than only the reductions that wouldn't have otherwise been achieved, then the credits are only partly additional.

There are two main components to assessing additionality: (i) is it likely a project's activities would have occurred without the incentive of a credit, and (ii) how accurately does a project's baseline scenario represent the amount of the CO₂e reduced/removed in the baseline scenario?

MSCI ESG Research's assessment of the additionality of biochar projects focuses on evaluating seven key topics. Figure 4 illustrates the sub-criteria and metrics through which the additionality of biochar projects is assessed, and the overall MSCI Carbon Project Ratings methodology sub-criteria that they refer to. The detailed sub-criteria are described in Figure 5.

Given the probabilistic nature of additionality, MSCI ESG Research scores projects based on the *likelihood* that their emission reductions or removals are additional. To achieve a high Additionality score, a project's activities must be "additional" (Sub-criteria 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3) and its baseline scenario reasonable (Sub-criteria 1.4 and 1.5).

An inverse weighting formula is used to determine a project's overall Additionality score, where the combined scores of Sub-criteria 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 are inversely weighted with the combined scores of Sub-criteria 1.4 and 1.5. As a result, a high score in any one criterion cannot offset a low score in another.

For example, a biochar project's activities might be very additional given that there may have been few incentives for producing biochar without carbon credits. However, if the biomass would have been used for an application that reduces or removes emissions without the project's activities, then this should be incorporated in any net emission removals calculation.







Figure 5: MSCI ESG Research Additionality integrity assessment framework

Sub-cr	iteria	Metrics	Rationale	REDD+	Renewables	ARR	Cookstoves	Biochar	Landfill Gas	Safe Water	IFM	Waste Mgmt.	Blue Carbon
redits	activeness	1.1.1.1 % of Revenue from Carbon Credits	The higher the proportion of a project's revenue that comes from carbon credits, the greater the importance of credits to its financial attractiveness.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
1 t Carbon C	ancial Attr	1.1.1.2 IRR Analysis	Credits should play a decisive role in making a project financially attractive that would otherwise have not been.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
1. /es withou	1.1.1 Fin	1.1.1.3 Prior Consideration	Carbon credits should have been clearly considered at the time the decision to go ahead with a project was taken.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
Incentiv	1.1.2 Barrier Analysis	Strength of Barriers	Projects that face high barriers to implementation would be less likely to go ahead without the added incentives of carbon credits.	x	~	×	~	~	×	~	8	~	~
1.2 Common Market Practice Penetratio		Market Penetration	If a practice is already common within a market, it indicates that these types of project will go ahead without the introduction of carbon credits.	x	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
1.3 Leg Consid	gal lerations	Legal Requirements	Projects that are legally required or incentivized are unlikely to be additional. However, if laws are not enforced, then may still be additional.	×	*	*	×	×	~	×	*	~	~
1.4 Ba Approa	iseline ach	Baseline Approach	Each project methodology is scored on the extent to which it mitigates the key risks associated with establishing a baseline scenario.	✓	*	*	¥	x	*	¥	*	*	~
1 5 8-		Baseline Transparency	Transparent detail on a project's assumptions is required to make an objective assessment of a project's performance and additionality.	✓	×	~	×	×	×	×	<	×	~
Reaso	seiine nableness	Baseline Assumptions	MSCI ESG Research assesses the key baseline scenario assumptions for each project type — for example, for REDD+ projects we validate a project's baseline deforestation rates.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
1.6 Red and Green Flags		News scanning	Review of academic papers, industry sources and the news for Red or Green Flags to project's additionality.	✓ Standardized approach					·				

🗸 Assessed 🛛 😕 Not Assessed



1.1.1.1 % of Revenue from Carbon Credits

There are multiple commercial revenue streams available to biochar producers beyond carbon credits, but primarily three main sources:

- 1. **Biochar use:** The sale of the biochar to be used as a filler in construction, as a fertilizer, as a feed additive or for soil amendments.
- 2. **Renewable energy:** The creation of other co-products, such as excess thermal energy during the biochar production, which can be sold as renewable energy.
- 3. **Waste:** Tipping fees may be received for certain feedstocks by collecting biomass waste that would otherwise have been diverted to landfills.

Given the potential for these alternative revenue streams, it is important that carbon credits are demonstrated to still represent a significant source of revenue for the project, and therefore be influential in the decision to go ahead.

There are two metrics that are used to evaluate this sub-criterion:

- **1.1.1.1 Alternative Revenue Sources:** Whether significant alternative revenue sources exist outside of carbon credits given the biochar type and characteristics.
- **1.1.1.1.2 Funding Sources:** Whether the project has received any significant funding sources to support the development and construction of the project.

The overall score for this sub-criterion is reached by weighting 1.1.1.1.1 Alternative Revenue Sources 80% and 1.1.1.1.2 Funding Sources 20% respectively.

1.1.1.1 Alternative Revenue Sources

Alternative Revenue Sources refers to the proportion of a project's total revenue that comes from the sale of carbon credits.

Rationale	The higher the proportion of a project's revenue that comes from carbon credits, the greater their likely importance to the financial attractiveness of the project. If credits only represent a fraction of the financial return, but the project can still claim credits representing 100% of the emission reductions or removals achieved, additionality is more uncertain.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark				
Scoring Definition	Each project is revenue comes only source of t	scored on a from carbon revenue for th	1-5 scale, where a credits and 5 ind ne project.	1 indicates tha dicates that ca	at a very low pr arbon credits a	oportion of re likely the			
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of project documentation to identify all the sources of revenue of a project. For projects that provide transparent revenue information, this is used to estimate the proportion of the company's expected revenue that will come from carbon credits.								
	Where financia for each source	l data is not p e given the pr	present, the appro oject's biomass t	oximate propo type and coun	rtion of revenu try type. For ex	e is estimated ample, the			



relevance of certain revenue streams will be different for a project producing biochar from industrial waste in a high-income country to one producing biochar from manure in an LDC (least-developed country). This is modelled in two steps:

1)	Relevance and Significance of Revenue Sources: For each biomass type and country type, the relevance and significance of each potential revenue stream to the project is assessed.
	 The revenue sources that are considered are: filler in construction; fertilizer; feed additive; soil amendments; renewable energy; tipping fees and land remediation.
	 The significance of each revenue source includes an assumption, given the current market demand, about what proportion of a project's biochar could be sold through that revenue stream.
	 If projects specifically state a target for a particular revenue source, then this revenue source was assumed to be highly significant.
2)	Approximate Revenue per Tonne of Each Source: Third-party data on the average revenue potential per tonne for each of these streams is then used to

average revenue potential per tonne for each of these streams is then used to create a bottom-up view of the revenue potential for the project. This is then compared to the expected revenue from carbon credits.

Projects then receive a score from 1 to 5 based on the proportion of revenue that carbon credits are estimated to represent.

1.1.1.1.2 Funding Sources

Funding Sources relate to whether the project has received any significant finance to support development and construction.

Rationale	With the biochar industry in its nascency, there are mechanisms and incentive schemes in place in some countries to support and fund the development of projects. Though these do not represent a long-term sustainable revenue source, they may provide an important initial source of income. Projects that have received significant funding may be more likely to have gone ahead without the security of carbon credit revenue. Given that the demand for biochar outside of carbon credits is expected to grow, high funding levels may allow projects to scale in the near-term and reach a sustainable business model without carbon credits in the medium term.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
	\checkmark				\checkmark				
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a 3-5 scale, where 3 indicates that it has benefitted from a very significant proportion of external funding and 5 indicates that no external funding has been received by the project.								
Scoring Approach	 MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of the biochar production companies and major grant schemes to identify whether each project had benefitted from any significant external funding sources. These sources include prizes, government grants and private investments. 								



The score for this sub-criterion is then based on both the type and amount of funding received. Funding sources, such as prizes or local government grants, in which financial returns are not expected from the investment, receive lower scores. Funding sources in which financial returns are expected to the financiers, such as external company investment, receive higher scores given that this funding does not change the potential importance of revenue from carbon credits.

Projects then receive a score based on the type and amount of funding received.

1.1.1.2 Internal Rate of Return (IRR) Analysis

It is important for biochar projects to demonstrate that the presence and opportunity of carbon credits played the decisive role in making them financially attractive. Projects can evidence this by transparently disclosing key financial assumptions, and their profitability both with and without carbon credits. Ideally, carbon credit revenue will materially impact the profitability of the project, making a project that would otherwise have been financially unattractive into a highly attractive one.

There are three metrics that are used to evaluate this sub-criterion:

- **1.1.1.2.1 Financial Tests and Transparency:** Whether the project uses a detailed and transparent approach to their financial analysis.
- **1.1.1.2.2 Strength of Financial Analysis:** Whether carbon credits appear to play a decisive role in the project being financially attractive.
- **1.1.1.2.3 Accuracy of Assumptions:** Whether the project's key financial assumptions appear accurate and appropriate against benchmarks.

The overall score for this sub-criterion is reached by weighting 1.1.1.2.2 Strength of Financial Analysis 50% and the other two factors 25% each.

1.1.1.2.1 Financial Tests and Transparency

Financial tests refer to whether the project uses a detailed and transparent approach to financial analysis.

Rationale	A project that conducts a more extensive financial analysis, in which key information is transparently given, provides more support and credibility to the outcome of that analysis.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
	\checkmark								
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a 1-5 scale, where 1 indicates that it has not conducted any financial analysis and 5 indicates that the project conducted a full IRR or Net Present Value (NPV) analysis and included detailed cost assumptions.								
Scoring Approach	Through a detailed review of a project's key documents, MSCI ESG Research reviews the approach that a project took regarding its financial analysis and the types of tests performed.								



Projects are then evaluated based on both the project's approach and the transparency of information provided.

1.1.1.2.2 Strength of Financial Analysis

Strength of Financial Analysis relates to whether carbon credits appear to play a decisive role in the project being financially attractive.

Rationale	Carbon credits not otherwise credits will ma unattractive in therefore an ir	s should incent have been fina ike a mitigation to a financially nportant indica	tivize actors to in ancially attractive n activity that wo v viable one. Asse ator of the likeling	nplement mitig without those ould otherwise essing a projec ood of addition	pation activities revenues. Ide have been fina ct's internal rationality.	s that would ally, carbon ancially e of return is				
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets				
	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark					
Scoring Definition	Each project is credits decisiv that carbon cr	s scored on a 1 rely changed th edits decisivel	I-5 scale where 1 ne IRR attractiver y changed the IR	indicates low ness, and 5 ind R attractivenes	likelihood that icates very hig ss of the projec	t carbon Jh likelihood ct.				
	MSCI ESG Res revenue, cost IRR informatic	earch conduct and profitabilit n, this is used	ts a detailed revie y metrics of a pro to estimate the p	ew of project d oject. For proje pre-credit and p	ocumentation ects that provid oost-credit IRR	to identify the de transparent of the project.				
	Where financial data is not present, a bottom-up simple IRR model is used for the project based on the expected revenues and costs of the project given its characteristics (biomass type, country type, technology type and scale). This is modelled in three steps:									
	 Approximate Cost Benchmarking: For each biomass type, country type, technology type and scale of project, benchmark Capex, Opex and Feedstock costs figures are sourced from a wide range of sources. For each project, the per tonne of CO₂e cost figure for the project given its core characteristics is then estimated. 									
Scoring Approach	2) Approximate Revenue per Ton of Each Source: As described in sub- criterion 1.1.1.1.1 Alternative Revenue Sources, third-party data on the average revenue potential per ton for each of these revenue streams is used to create a bottom-up view of the revenue potential for the project.									
	3) Pr pro	e- and post-cr oject over a 25	edit IRR: Based	on these inpu is calculated.	ts, an expecte	d IRR for the				
	The overall IRR score for each project is then determined based on the scores for each relevant indicator. A high score is needed on each indicator to achieve a high overall score.									
	Three compor	ents of IRR ar	nalysis:							
	Financial attra	ctiveness with	out carbon credi	ts (Pre-credit II	RR)					



Projects that are not financially attractive without carbon credits are unlikely to have gone ahead without them. A project's internal rate of return without carbon credits is compared to a benchmark rate of return relevant to that project type and country. If the pre-credit IRR is significantly lower than the required benchmark, then this indicates that the project would likely not otherwise have taken place.

Financial attractiveness with carbon credits (Post-credit IRR).

Carbon credits should make mitigation activities that would have been unattractive into financially viable projects. Comparing a project's post-credit IRR (IRR with carbon credit revenues) to the required benchmark indicates whether a project is financially viable with carbon credits. The likelihood that the activity is additional is high if the post-credit IRR clearly exceeds the benchmark.

Change in financial attractiveness due to carbon credits (Absolute Difference between Post-Credit and Pre-Credit IRR).

If the proceeds from carbon credits materially change the financial attractiveness of an activity, it is more likely that the carbon credits have played a decisive role. Alternatively, if carbon credits only mildly impact the financial attractiveness of a project, then higher uncertainty exists.

1.1.1.2.3 Accuracy of Assumptions

Accuracy of Assumptions relates to whether the project's key financial assumptions appear appropriate and reasonable given the project's characteristics.

Rationale	Projects that use inappropriate or unreasonable assumptions within their financial additional analysis may over-state their financial additionality.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets					
	\checkmark								
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a 1-5 scale, where 1 indicates that there is a very high risk that project's key assumptions are significantly over-estimated compared to benchmark values, and 5 indicates that there is a very low risk that project's key assumptions are inaccurate.								
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research extracts the values for key financial assumptions from project documentation and compare these assumptions against third-party country-specific benchmarks.								
	The reasonableness of each of these key assumptions is scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on a comparison of a project's assumption against benchmark values.								

1.1.1.3 Prior Consideration

Projects that can demonstrate that carbon credits were considered prior to their decision to start, provide more evidence that credits acted as an important incentive in starting mitigation activities.



Two key sub-criteria are used to evaluate this:

- **1.1.1.3.1 Evidence of Consideration:** Whether any evidence exists that credits were considered prior to the project start.
- **1.1.1.3.2 Registration Gap:** Whether a significant gap exists between the start of the project's activities and the initial registration and issuance date.

The overall score for 1.1.1.3 Prior Consideration is determined by an equal weighting of these subcriteria.

1.1.1.3.1 Evidence of Consideration

Evidence of consideration refers to whether the project has specific evidence that demonstrates that the use of carbon credits was considered prior to the project start date.

Rationale	Evidence that carbon credits were considered prior to the project start date indicates that credits played an important role in this decision process. On the other hand, if no evidence of prior consideration exists, there is a higher chance that the decision to go ahead with the project occurred without any expectation of carbon credits.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
	\checkmark								
Scoring Definition	Each project is s made available, exists.	scored on a 1 and 5 indicat	-5 scale, where 1 tes that good qua	l indicates tha ality evidence	nt no evidence of prior consid	has been leration			
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research identifies whether any evidence exists that carbon credits were considered prior to the project start date. This evidence may include projects signing up to Puro Earth's pre-registration scheme, in which case they are clearly considering carbon credits from the outset of the project.								
	The date of any project start dat or not.	evidence of o	carbon credit cor ne whether credit	nsideration is ts were consid	then comparec lered prior to tl	I to the ne start date			

1.1.1.3.2 Registration Gap

Registration gap evaluates the gap between the start date of the project activity and the project being registered with a crediting standard and able to issue credits.

Rationale	A longer gap be suggests the pr investment ever decisive in the p hard to minimiz	tween the sta oject was abl n in the abser project going e this time ta	art of project acti le to maintain, at nce of carbon cre ahead, then we w ken in the registr	vity and the p least to an ex edits. If credits vould typically ration process	roject's registra tent, activities, were very imp expect a proje	ation and ortant and ect to work
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets



		$\overline{}$
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a 1-5 scale, where 1 indicates a very significant gap be the initial decision date and the registration date and 5 indicates a short or inconsequential gap.	tween
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research analyzes project documentation to determine the project's s date and compared this to the date of registration and date of first issuance of t project using the MSCI Carbon Markets platform.	start he
	The project stated start date is compared to the registration/issuance date and categorized the gap between these dates into a 1 to 5 scale.	then

1.1.2 Barrier Analysis

Barrier Analysis refers to whether any barriers exist that would have prevented the project moving forward without carbon credits.

Rationale	Barriers may ex overcome throu be technologica the project, or fi	ist to the dev ogh providing al, in terms of nancial or cu	relopment of a pr an additional inc the lack of capa Itural.	roject that car centive to the bilities and re	bon credits can projects. These sources require	help to barriers may ed to execute	
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets	
	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark	
Scoring Definition	Each project is a barriers to entry entry which are	scored on a î v inherent to t highly likely t	1-5 scale, where ⁻ the project and 5 to have prevente	1 indicates that indicates that d the project g	at there are no s t there are seve joing ahead.	significant ral barriers to	
	Both the stated and inherent barriers that exist to a project are analyzed. For the stated barriers, a detailed review of project documentation is conducted to understand whether any barriers had been explicitly mentioned and evidenced.						
	Assumptions are made regarding two key characteristics of the project to determine whether inherent barriers existed that would have otherwise prevented the project from going ahead. The two characteristics are:						
Scoring Approach	 Country T project tak Developer they have anyway. 	ype: The lev kes place. Type: The t the technica	el of economic ype of company I and financial ca	development that develope apabilities to l	of the county ed the project, have carried ou	in which the and whether It the project	
	Each project is then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on these two inputs and the stated barriers used.						



1.2 Common Practice

If biochar production is already common practice within a region at the time a project started, then it suggests that the project's activities could have been implemented without carbon credits.

There are two metrics that are used to evaluate this sub-criterion:

- **1.2.1 First-of-its-kind:** The extent to which the project is first-of-its-kind in that region or country.
- **1.2.2 Country Incentives:** Whether any country-level incentive schemes exist that are heavily promoting the development of similar projects in that region.

Each of these criteria is assessed independently on a scale of 1 to 5.

The overall score is then based on weighting 1.2.1 First-of-its-kind 80% and 1.2.2 Country Incentives 20%.

1.2.1 First-of-its-kind

First-of-its-kind relates to whether the project is first-of-its-kind in that region or country.

Rationale	If a project repr country, then th tackling unique are developed i suggests that t carbon credits	resents the fir the technology developmen n a region in he project's a given the nas	est project of that r is clearly not co t challenges with which numerous activities could ha scency of the carl	technology ty mmon practic in that countr biochar facilit ave been imple bon markets f	ype to be develo e, and the proje y. In contrast, p ties already exi emented even v or biochar.	oped in that ect will be projects that st, then it vithout
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets
	\checkmark				\checkmark	
Scoring Definition	Each project is already exist in	scored on a f the country, a	1-5 scale, where and 5 indicates t	1 indicates tha he project is fi	at over 100 bio rst-of-its-kind i	char facilities n that region.
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Rese projects were in biochar facilitie technology is.	earch reviews dentified. This es that exist in	s project docume s is the combined n the country to c	ntation to ass d with a third-p letermine how	ess how many party review of common prac	similar the number of tice this
	Projects are the	en scored on	a scale of 1 to 5,	based on the	number of sim	ilar projects.

1.2.2 Country Incentives

Country Incentives assesses whether any country-level incentive schemes exist that are heavily promoting the development of similar projects in that region.

Rationale Though a technology may not be common practice already in that region, government incentive schemes may be in place to rapidly incentivize the adoption and development of this technology. This represents a high indication that the technology will become common practice in the future.



Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets		
-	\checkmark				\checkmark			
Scoring Definition	Each project is schemes exist government fu	scored on a that heavily s nding scheme	1-5 scale, where subsidize biochar es exist.	1 indicates sig production, a	nificant goverr nd 5 indicates	nment funding that no		
	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of the country's governme relating to biochar to determine the presence and significance of any gov programs that incentivize biochar production.					ent policies ernment		
Scoring Approach	To account for differences in country size, this figure is adjusted based on the amount of funding per current operational biochar facility.							
	Each project is project.	scored base	d on the relative a	amount of gov	vernment suppo	ort per current		

1.5 Baseline Reasonableness

Biochar is produced from a biomass input. Without the project going ahead, different types of biomass may have been used for alternative uses. It is important that biochar projects appropriately consider the alternative use for the biomass type, and the emissions impact that this alternative use would have created.

Biochar projects should appropriately assess the potential uses of the biomass in the baseline scenario (the counter-factual scenario without the project's activities), and account for any emissions impact that would have occurred without the project.

As it is not possible to know for certain what would have happened in this counterfactual scenario, assessing the reasonableness of a project's baseline scenario assumptions must be done in a probabilistic way.

Two sub-components are considered to evaluate a project's baseline reasonableness:

- **1.5.1 Relevance of Baseline Scenario:** Whether the project's baseline scenario appears reasonable given the biomass type.
- **1.5.2 Biomass Sourcing:** Whether the project provides evidence that the biomass was sourced in a sustainable way.

Each of these criteria is assessed independently on a scale of 1 to 5. The overall score is reached through an equal weighting of both sub-criteria.

1.5.1 Relevance of Baseline Scenario

Relevance of Baseline Scenario relates to whether the project's baseline scenario appears reasonable given the biomass type.

Rationale	To accurately estimate the net emissions impact, projects must appropriately account
Rationale	for what would have happened to the biomass without the project scenario. Projects

that do not appropriately account for any emission reduction or removals that would have occurred otherwise will over-estimate their total impact.

Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets
					\checkmark	
Scoring Definition	Each project is scenario is asse impact in the ba baseline scenar estimation.	scored on a essed as imp aseline scena rio or a basel	3-5 scale, where 3 blausible and is lil ario and 5 indicat ine scenario that	3 indicates tha kely to under-e es that the pro minimizes ris	at the project's estimate the en oject uses an a k of baseline o	baseline nissions ppropriate ver-
Scoring Approach	The relevance of baseline scenar the biomass typ - Stated assess the bio - Most R acaden MSCI E have be most re in Sub- may be Projects are the baseline scenar	of the baselin rio with an in pe and region Baseline Sce and to unders mass withou Relevant Base nic and third- SG Research een for each elevant basel Saharan Africe e left to decay en scored on rio is.	e scenario is ass dependent evalua a type. Each of the enario: A detailed tand what the pro- t the project. Eline Scenario: The party literature, for evaluate what the biomass and region ine scenario for v ca where less many a 1 to 5 scale base	essed by com ation of the mo ese inputs is d evaluation of oject assumes nrough a comp or each bioma ne most releva ion type. For e vood residues ture energy m sed on how rel	paring the proj ost relevant ba letermined as f project docum would have ha orehensive revi ss type and rev nt baseline sce xample, in Finl may be Energy arkets exist, th	ect's stated seline given follows: nentation is appened to ew of gion type, enario would and, the y Use, while e biomass

1.5.1.2 Biomass Sourcing

Biomass Sourcing refers to whether the project provides evidence that the biomass was sourced in a sustainable way.

Rationale	Projects that to forest regrowth throughout its r	ok place on r and regeneration recent history	ecently forested ation. In contrast , the likelihood of	land are more , if the project f natural regro	likely to exper area has rema wth is lower.	ence natural ined barren
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets
	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Scoring Definition	Each project is forest cover in tand 5 indicates	scored on a f the project ar that there is	1-5 scale, where ² ea over the past no recent history	1 indicates tha 10 years and i of forest cov	at there has bee recent history c er or forest los	en very high f harvesting, s.



Scoring Approach

MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of the project's documentation and company information to determine whether the project has any evidence or certification related to the sustainable sourcing of the biomass.

Each project is then scored from 1-5 based on whether any evidence is provided that the biomass is sustainably sourced.



6. Criterion 2 – Quantification

Quantification refers to the likelihood that the emission reduction or removals claimed by a project are accurate, assuming the baseline scenario is correct. It includes both emission reductions or removals within a project area, and those that have occurred outside the project area, known as leakage.

Along with the strength of baseline assessment, Quantification is a key determinant of the risks of over-crediting: whether the number of credits issued by the project is equal to the CO₂e actually reduced/removed. In theory, all carbon credits are worth the equivalent of 1 tonne of CO₂e reduced or removed. A low carbon quantification score means that the emission reductions or removals delivered by the credit is likely to be less than 1 tonne. In this case, buyers should be cautious in using one credit to offset 1 tonne of their own CO₂e emissions as they are unlikely to be equivalent.

Quantifying a biochar project's emission removals requires both an estimate of the carbon sequestered within the end product, and an evaluation of the total emissions impact throughout the life cycle of the production process. The total quantification must take into account relevant emissions associated with the biomass type across its lifetime from "cradle-to-grave" to ensure the emissions impact represents the true net emissions impact of the project.

Figure 6 illustrates the sub-criteria through which MSCI ESG Research assesses the quantification of biochar projects, and the Integrity Assessment framework sub-criteria that they refer to. The detailed sub-criteria are described in Figure 7.



Figure 6: Biochar Quantification assessment approach



Figure 7: MSCI ESG Research Quantification integrity assessment framework

Sub-criteria	Metrics	Rationale	REDD+	Renewables	ARR	Cookstoves	Biochar	Landfill Gas	Safe Water	IFM	Waste Mgmt.	Blue Carbon
2.1	2.1.1 Methodology Approach	Through setting the assumptions that projects must make, and the sources that can be used to estimate them, crediting program methodologies can play an important role in reducing or even increasing the level of quantification risk.			~	Stan	dardiz	zed ap	proa	ch		
Quantification Approach	2.1.2 Project Transparency	Transparent documentation and detail on a project's assumptions are required to make an objective assessment of its approach to carbon quantification.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
	2.1.3 Project Approach	Two projects with the same methodology may carry different quantification risks depending on the approaches that each use.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
2.2 Assumption Accuracy	Quantification Accuracy	Each project type has a set of key assumptions that determine the accuracy of their carbon quantification. Evaluating the reliability and accuracy of these key assumptions shows whether a project has over- or understated their emission reductions or removals.	~	1	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
2.3 Monitoring	2.3.1 Monitoring Plan	Projects that have effective processes in place to regularly monitor and measure key quantification inputs and assumptions are more likely to accurately estimate and update their emissions impact.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
Performance 2.3.2 VVB Analysis		Projects that use a diverse mix of well- regarded verification and validation bodies (VVBs) will improve the likelihood that key quantification details are accurately checked and validated.	✓ Standardized approach									
2.4 Red and Green Flags	News scanning	Review of academic papers, industry sources and the news for Red or Green Flags relating to project's quantification.	✓ Standardized approach									

2.1.2 Transparency

Transparency refers to whether the project transparently discloses key quantification details, approaches, and assumptions.

Rationale Projects that do not disclose key information regarding their quantification approaches and assumptions create greater uncertainty. Lack of transparency fundamentally limits the ability to determine whether the project has used appropriate and best-practice approaches and assumptions.



Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets		
					\checkmark			
Scoring Definition	Each project is transparency a transparently d	Each project is scored on a 5-point scale from 1 to 5, where 1 indicates a relatively lo transparency and 5 indicates that all key details and assumptions have been transparently disclosed.						
	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of project docurelevant quantification details and assumptions provided. Bioc are also contacted in order to provide another opportunity to su information.					to identify all developers nissing		
Scoring Approach	There were six key factors that are identified: a) volume of biomass used; b) type of biomass; c) biomass carbon content; d) volume of biochar generated; e) biochar carbon content; f) hydrogen to carbon ratio.							
	Projects are then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on how many of these 6 factors are transparently disclosed.							

2.1.3 Project Approach

Projects that use scientifically best-practice techniques to estimate key components of their quantification increase the probability that CO₂e impact will be accurately measured.

There are two metrics that are used to evaluate this sub-criterion:

- **2.1.3.1 Quantification Methods:** Whether the project uses scientific best-practice approaches to estimating key project quantification assumptions.
- **2.1.3.2 Testing and Sampling Methods:** Whether the project uses representative testing and sampling techniques to verify key project assumptions.

The overall score for this sub-criterion is reached by weighting each of these factors by 50%.

2.1.3.1 Quantification Methods

Quantification Methods relates to whether the project uses scientific best-practice approaches to estimating key project quantification assumptions.

Rationale	Given the nasc estimate the ar projects keep p techniques to r	ency of the b mount of carb bace with scie measure their	iochar industry, tl oon sequestration entific developme emissions impa	he science bel n is still develo ents, and ensu ct.	nind the best a pping. It is impo re they use wel	pproaches to ortant that Il-founded
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Project Academi Geospatial Methodology Literatur Documentation		Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets
			\checkmark		\checkmark	
Scoring Definition	Each project is key six inputs a	scored on a are used withi	5-point scale from	m 1 to 5, where and 5 indicate	e 1 indicates th s that the proje	at none of the ect uses a



	combination of organic and fixed carbon content, and hydrogen to carbon (H:C) and oxygen to carbon (O:C) ratios.
Scoring Approach	Quantification Methods are assessed based on both an individual project's stated approach and the relevant methodological requirements for biochar quantification.
	The use of six key inputs within the quantification method are analyzed: organic carbon content, fixed carbon content, H:C ratio, O:C ratio, material half-life and mineralization.
	The methodological requirements for biochar quantification are then considered to determine which of these six key inputs is required as part of the quantification approach. Given some methodologies require certain approaches to be used, this methodology review can provide an indication of the project's approach even when not transparently disclosed.
	Projects are then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on the types of methods used or required, with projects using organic and fixed carbon content, H:C molar ratio and O:C ratio achieving the highest score.
	The methodological requirements therefore represent a minimum score that projects can achieve, though individual projects that go beyond the base methodological requirements can receive a higher score.

2.1.3.2 Testing and Sampling Methods

Testing and Sampling Methods refer to whether the project uses representative testing and sampling techniques to verify key project assumptions.

Rationale	A crucial proce carbon stored w produced bioch way to ensure t	A crucial process in a biochar project's quantification is to measure the amount of carbon stored within the biochar end-product through an analysis of a sample of produced biochar. It is crucial that this measurement is conducted in a representative way to ensure that the carbon content is accurately measured.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets				
	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark					
Scoring Definition	Each project is laboratory testi independent la	Each project is scored on a 5-point scale from 1 to 5, where 1 indicates that no laboratory testing is used, and 5 indicates that the project transparently uses an independent laboratory test on a representative sample of biochar.								
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Rese documentation within biochar. to do as part of or below this re Projects are the and whether th methodologica	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of both project and methodology documentation to understand the procedures used to measure the carbon content within biochar. In combination, this provides a view of both what projects are required to do as part of their estimates, and whether individual project's approach went above or below this requirement. Projects are then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on the type of methods conducted, and whether the project provided additional information and depth beyond the methodological requirements.								



The methodological requirements represent a minimum score that projects can achieve, but projects that go beyond the base methodological requirements can receive a higher score.

2.2 Accuracy of Assumptions

The accuracy of key project quantification assumptions is evaluated against a combination of MSCI EST Research and third-party estimates to determine whether they appear reasonable.

There are two components that are used to evaluate this sub-criterion:

- **2.2.1 Carbon Content:** Whether the project's carbon content assumptions for both biochar and feedstock appear appropriate given the biomass and feedstock mix.
- **2.2.2 Life Cycle Emissions:** Whether the project appropriately accounts for all energy vectors resulting from the biochar production process.

Each of these criteria are evaluated on a 1 to 5 scale. 2.2.1 Carbon Content is weighted 75% and 2.2.2 Life Cycle Emissions is weighted 25%.

2.2.1 Carbon Content

Carbon Content relates to whether the project's carbon content and assumptions for both biochar and feedstock appear appropriate given the biomass and feedstock mix.

Rationale	Estimation of the measuring the a process. Measu that over-estima removal impact	Estimation of the carbon content within the input biomass and end product is crucial in measuring the amount of carbon sequestered as part of the biochar production process. Measuring the carbon content is subject to some uncertainty, and projects that over-estimate the carbon content will therefore over-estimate their emission removal impact.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets				
	\checkmark				\checkmark					
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a 1 to 5 scale, where 5 indicates the project's carbon content assumptions appear in-line with third-party data, 3 indicates that the project's estimates are 50% higher than third-party estimates and 1 indicates that the project's estimate is over 100% higher than third-party estimates.									
	MSCI ESG Research extracts information on a project's assumptions on the carbon content within the biochar and feedstock.									
Scoring Approach Third-party data from Phyllis2 is then used to identify the range of carbon conterfound for the applicable biochar or biomass type. ⁶ The project's estimate is then compared to the maximum value from the relevant third-party estimate identified example, for biochar projects in which the feedstock is coffee husk, third-party d										

⁶ Phyllis2. "ECN Phyllis classification". Accessed November 30, 2023. https://phyllis.nl/Browse/Standard/ECN-Phyllis



the carbon content for coffee husks is used. For this feedstock type, the range identified was 45-60% and so the maximum 60% figure is used.

Projects are then scored on a 1 to 5 scale for both the biochar and feedstock assumptions based on the difference between the project and third-party estimate.

2.2.2 Life Cycle Emissions

The biochar production process involves a complex number of stages, from the initial growth and sourcing of the biomass to the processing and transportation of it, and the final production processes. Through this life cycle, the process may involve emissions at each stage which must be taken into account of in order to reach an accurate estimate of the overall net emissions impact from the project. Projects must consider all stages and energy vectors throughout this process.

There are three main components that are used to evaluate this sub-criterion:

- **2.2.2.1 Pre-processing Life Cycle Stages:** Whether the project appropriately accounts for project emissions across all stages of the biomass pre-processing life cycle.
- 2.2.2.2 Processing Energy Vectors: Whether the project appropriately accounts for all energy vectors during the processing stage.
- 2.2.2.3 Post-processing: Whether the project appropriately accounts for all post-processing project emissions using best-practice approaches.

The overall score is reached through an equal weighting of these three factors.

2.2.2.1 Pre-Processing Life Cycle Stages

Pre-processing Life Cycle Stages relates to whether the project appropriately accounts for project emissions across all stages of the biomass life cycle.

Rationale	Prior to the pyre emissions asso facilities.	olysis stage, ociated with t	projects must ap he growth and sı	propriately ac upply of bioma	count for all the ass to the proce	e project essing		
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets		
	\checkmark		\checkmark					
Scoring Definition	Each project is cycle stage em emissions are a assessment.	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 indicates that no pre-processing life cycle stage emissions are accounted for and 5 indicates that all pre-processing project emissions are appropriately accounted for and provided within a full life cycle assessment.						
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of both project and methodology documentation to understand which stages of the biomass life cycle had been accounted for. In combination, this provides a view of both what projects are required to do as part of their estimates, and whether individual project's approach go above or below this requirement in their depth and transparency of information.							
	Projects are assessed based on whether they provided a complete life cycle assessment, and alternatively which of six key factors that are assessed for whether							



they are accounted for as part of their life cycle analysis: i) the quantity of biomass sourced and used; ii) accounting of transport; iii) accounting of storage; iv) accounting of production (including cultivation and harvesting); v) accounting of total use emissions; vi) whether removals were stated.

Projects that provide a complete life cycle assessment score a 5. Otherwise, projects are then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on how many of the six factors are disclosed or required by the methodology.

2.2.2.2 Processing Energy Vectors

Processing Energy Vectors relates to whether the project appropriately accounts for all energy vectors resulting from the production process and their respective end-uses.

Rationale	The pyrolysis p temperatures re emissions used emissions impa	The pyrolysis production process can be heavily energy-intensive given the temperatures required. It is important that projects appropriately account for any emissions used during this process to ensure they are accurately estimating their net emissions impact.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets				
			\checkmark							
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 indicates no processing energy vectors are accounted for and 5 indicates that all relevant energy vectors are accounted for.									
	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of both project and methodology documentation to understand which energy vectors had been accounted for during the production process. In combination, this provides a view of both what projects were required to do as part of their estimates, and whether an individual project's approach went above or below this requirement in its depth and transparency of information.									
Scoring Approach	Projects are assessed based on whether they provided a complete assessment of all energy vectors, and alternatively which of six key factors are accounted for as part of their life cycle analysis: i) syngas; ii) wood vinegar; iii) renewable energy; iv) heat recovery; v) accounting for energy self-consumption; vi) vent accounting.									
	Projects that provide a complete energy vector assessment score a 5. Otherwise, projects are then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on how many of the 6 factors are disclosed or required by the methodology.									

2.2.2.3 Post-processing Emissions

Post-processing Emissions refers to whether the project appropriately accounts for all such emissions using best-practice approaches.

Rationale	Once biochar has been produced, it then needs to be handled, transported and stored
	in an end-application. This post-production process can generate emissions that must



be appropriately accounted for in order to ensure that a project's net emission calculations are accurate.

Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets				
			\checkmark							
Scoring Definition	Each project is emissions are a appropriately a	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 indicates no post-processing emissions are accounted for and 5 indicates that all post-processing stages are appropriately accounted for.								
	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of both project and methodology documentation to understand which post-production stages had been accounted for. In combination, this provides a view of both what projects were required to do as part of their estimates, and whether individual project's approach go above or below this requirement in its depth and transparency of information.									
Scoring Approach	Projects are assessed based on whether they provided a complete assessment of all post-production stages, and alternatively which of three key factors are accounted for as part of their life cycle analysis: i) transportation; ii) handling; iii) other post-processing emissions.									
	Projects that provide a complete post-production assessment score a 5. Otherwise, projects are then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on how many of the 3 factors are disclosed or required by the methodology.									

2.3 Monitoring Performance

Monitoring relates to whether the project frequently monitors carbon stock and if the techniques used are appropriate and will provide accurate measurements.

Rationale	Regular monito sampling error.	egular monitoring, sampling and auditing can reduce quantification risks due to ampling error.							
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
					\checkmark				
Scoring Definition	Projects are scored on a 1 to 5 scale, where 1 indicates that no audits or samples have been conducted, and 5 indicates that audits, sampling and site visits are conducted at least annually.								
	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of project documentation in order to assess the auditing and site visit procedures for the project.								
Scoring Approach	For each project	ct, the freque	ncy of three mair	n monitoring fa	actors are asse	ssed:			
3 11	 Audit Frequency: The number of audits conducted each year since the project started. 								
	- Sampling: The frequency of biochar sampling.								



- Site Visits: The frequency of site visits.

For each of these monitoring factors, projects are scored on a 1 to 5 scale, where 5 indicated that the frequency is at least annual, and 1 indicates that the factor has not been monitored since the project start. The overall score is then based on an average of these three scores.



7. Criterion 3 - Permanence

Permanence refers to the likelihood that the emission reductions or removals achieved by a project will be sufficiently long-term and not released back into the atmosphere. There is growing consensus that 100 years represents a good benchmark for projects to be classified as "permanent." The IC-VCM's Core Carbon Principles require a monitoring and compensation period of at least 40 years for nature-based projects.

A permanent reduction or removal can only be guaranteed where it is physically impossible for a reversal to occur. However, for most projects, a risk of reversal does, to some extent, exist. This risk may be due to natural risks, such as wildfires, or human risks, such as poor project management.

Engineered carbon dioxide removals, including methods like biochar, have the potential to sequester carbon for long periods. Recent scientific studies have revealed more insights on this topic. In particular, they have identified how the stability and duration of the removal can be subject to some risk of carbon loss, particularly over a 100- or 1,000-year timeline, with the carbon stability highly dependent on several parameters like process type, temperature and type of biomass used.⁷

Key characteristics and metrics to assess the permanence efficiency of biochar removal projects include not only direct natural risks but also carbon loss related to the stability of the biochar and the duration of the removal. Such risks are highly dependent on the quality of the biochar (how stable is the embodied carbon), the end-use application (for example, soil application versus construction) and the respective stability of that application combined with the potential duration. To accurately assess the risk of reversals for biochar projects, it is therefore essential to consider and account for both biochar stability and duration.

Figure 8: Permanence integrity assessment approach illustrates the sub-criteria through which MSCI ESG Research assesses the permanence of the emissions reductions achieved by biochar projects, and the Integrity Assessment framework sub-criteria that they refer to. The detailed sub-criteria are described in Figure 9.

⁷ Lefebvre, David, et al. "Biomass Residue to Carbon Dioxide Removal: Quantifying the Global Impact of Biochar."



Figure 8: Permanence integrity assessment approach⁸



⁸ The approach to assess 3.2.2 Local Stakeholder Engagement is outlined in Section 4.3.2, Local Stakeholder Engagement.



Figure 9: MSCI ESG Research Permanence integrity assessment framework

Sub	criteria	Metrics	Rationale	REDD+ Renewables ARR Cookstoves Biochar Landfill Gas Safe Water IFM Waste Mgmt.			Waste Mgmt.	Blue Carbon					
Permanence	3.1.1 Project Type Risk	Project Type Significance	Different project types have inherently different levels of non-permanence risk.			~	Stan	dardiz	zed ap	proa	ch		
of Non- Dick	3.1.2	3.1.2.1 Natural Risks	The risk of fire, drought, landslide and other natural risks in that project area.	~		~					~		~
Project Risk3.1.2.2 Human RisksHuman-related permanence risks include the strength of land tenure rights or a project developer's experience.		*		~					~		~		
3.2.1 Mitigation Activities 3.2 Mitigation 3.2.2 Local Stakeholder Engagement		3.2.1 Mitigation Activities	Projects can mitigate non-permanence risks through implementing activities that focus on addressing key risks.			~	~	~		~	~		~
		3.2.2 Local Stakeholder Engagement	Successfully engaging with local stakeholders lowers the risk of human-based non-permanence.			~	~	~		~	~		~
		3.3.1 Project Contributions	A project's buffer pool contributions should appropriately account for the non- permanence risk.	~		~	~	~		~	~		~
3.3 Com and	pensation	3.3.2 Buffer Pool Capitalization	An under-capitalized buffer pool may have insufficient credits to cover future losses.			~	Stan	dardiz	zed ap	proa	ch		
Contributions 3.3.3 Buffer Pool Mechanics		3.3.3 Buffer Pool Mechanics	A buffer pool should have mechanisms in place to ensure projects appropriately account for and estimate their buffer pool credits.	✓ Standardized approach									
3.4 I Non [.] Pern	Evidence of - nanence	Non-Permanence Events	If significant reversals have occurred without being accounted for, then carbon stock reversals have already occurred.	t 🗸 🖌									
3.5 I Gree	Red and en Flags	News scanning	Review of academic papers, industry sources and the news for Red or Green Flags relating to project's permanence.	✓ Standardized approach									

3.1.2.1.1 Stability

Biochar can be stored in multiple different end applications, with soil currently the most common, followed by construction and land remediation. Biochar can also be applied as an animal feed additive or within filtering applications, though the research around carbon stability for these types of applications is less rigorous.



The inherent stability of these end applications can vary significantly. The stability of the end application must be appropriately accounted for to monitor and quantify the permanence of the stored carbon. To assess the carbon storage stability of a project, two main sub-criteria are considered:

- **3.1.2.1.1.1 Permanence Methods:** Whether the project appropriately monitors and quantifies the stability of the stored carbon using proven scientific methods.
- **3.1.2.1.1.2 End Application Stability**: Whether the end application represents a high stability destination to store the biochar.

Each of these sub-criteria is assessed on a 1-5 scale, with the overall score reached by weighting 3.1.2.1.1.1 Permanence Methods 50% and 3.1.2.1.1.2 End Application Stability 50%.

3.1.2.1.1.1 Permanence Methods

Permanence Methods refers to the methods used by the project to appropriately monitor and quantify the stability of the stored carbon using up to date and proven scientific methods.

Rationale	There are a number of scientific methods approved by academia and industry alike that can be used to measure and monitor the stability of the carbon structure embodied in biochar. The hydrogen to organic carbon ratio is widely accepted as a good indicator of stability, but there are a number of other methods available. Projects that use scientifically approved methods or a combination of methods increase the accuracy and reliability of their estimations and assumptions.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Scoring Definition	Each project is indicates that tl permanence cla methods suppo	Each project is scored on a 5-point scale from 1 to 5 for each risk type, where 1 indicates that the project either does not provide the methods and data to justify its permanence claims and 5 indicates that the project provides a combination of rigorous methods supported by data relevant to the specific end application.							
	MSCI ESG Research conducts detailed research on the most scientifically best-pract methods including industry, academic and third-party literature data. ⁹ Through this research, the relative accuracy of each method is assessed.								
Scoring Approach	This is then combined with a comprehensive review of both the individual project's approach and the relevant methodological requirements. In addition, data is collected on whether projects provided information on five key factors: i) H:C ratio; ii) permanence factor; iii) soil temperature; iv) technology type; v) location.								
	Projects are then assessed based on the methods used, through creating a correlation of the H:C ratio values with carbon stability (correlation values lower than 0.1 are indicative of higher biochar permanence).								

⁹ Yaashikaa, P. R., et al., "A Critical Review on the Biochar Production Techniques, Characterization, Stability and Applications for Circular Bioeconomy."



Projects that provide all of the key methods and data relevant to each application combined with a low H:C ratio score a 5. Otherwise, projects are then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on which data points were disclosed and/or methodologically required.

3.1.2.1.1.2 End Application Stability

End Application Stability refers to whether the end application inherently represents a highly stable destination to store or use the biochar.

Rationale	The carbon storage stability of the end application can vary significantly across different end applications. Certain applications, such as construction materials (aggregates, building materials, asphalt and cement) present near zero risk of carbon loss through the length of the storage duration, whereas soil or animal feed applications do carry risk of carbon loss due to decay or devolatilizing back into to the environment. Carbon stored in end applications that have higher stability will have lower permanence risks and provide a secured duration.							
Key Sources	Project Geospatial Documentation	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark				
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a s risk of stored carbon loss an	scale of 3 to 5, wh d 5 indicates a v	here 3 indicate ery stable end	es an application application de	on with higher estination.			
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of each individual project's key documents to identify the end application of the biochar. This is then combined with a review of academic literature to understand the scientific consensus regarding the stability of each end application. Projects are then scored on a 3 to 5 scale based on the stability of the end application that they use.							

3.1.2.1.2 Permanence Duration – Lifetime

The duration of the biochar within the end application must be appropriately and reasonably estimated by projects. Duration is not a binary concept for biochar; it is possible for a proportion of biochar to be released back in the environment over the storage duration period, meaning one must evaluate how much biochar will be persistent over a certain lifetime.

As part of our assessment of duration, both the accuracy of the project's claimed duration and the likelihood of duration over a 100-year timeframe are considered. Primarily basing the assessment on a 100-year timeframe allows for more direct comparison of biochar permanence against other project types.

Three main sub-criteria are considered as part of this assessment:

 3.1.2.1.2.1 Accuracy of Duration Claims: Whether the project's duration claims appear accurate and reasonable given the biochar properties, risks and conditions on the project application.



- **3.1.2.1.2.2 100-year Lifetime:** The extent to which the biochar will be persistent over a 100-year lifetime.
- **3.1.2.1.2.3 Other Permanence Risks**: Whether any other permanence risks exist that may impact the duration of the stored carbon.

Each of these sub-criteria is assessed on a 1-5 scale. To ensure comparability with other project type integrity scores, which have primarily been assessed on a 100-year permanence timeline, 100-year Lifetime is weighted 85%, Accuracy of duration claims 10% and Other permanence risks 5%.

3.1.2.1.2.1 Accuracy of Duration Claims

Accuracy of Duration Claims refers to whether the project's duration claims appear accurate and reasonable given the biochar quality, properties and specific characteristics of the application location.

Rationale	Each project's stated carbon storage duration claims vary significantly depending on the project scope and biochar quality. Conservative storage duration claims that are realistically achievable combined with a justifiable approach relative to each application improve the accuracy and reliability of the assumptions and estimates.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark				
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, where 5 indicates that the stored carbon duration for the specific application is highly accurate and 1 indicates the stated duration has a higher risk of not being overestimated.								
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research completes a detailed review of each individual project's key documents to extract the application type and stated storage duration in years.								
	This is then combined with a detailed review of academic literature to compare these assumptions against third-party estimates. Projects are evaluated based on 50-year intervals up to 200 years and then 500- and 1,000-years mark and correlated the project duration to each specific application. Construction, for example, does not present significant risks however it is limited due to the lifetime of the structures which is considered a maximum of 200 years.								
	Specifically, for soil application, the type of biochar, soil temperature range and impact on the permanence factor over a 1,000-year period is considered, and the overall stored carbon loss percentage is evaluated and incorporated in the scores. More information on the expected carbon loss depending on these factors is provided in Section 9.								
	For non-soil app the stated stora	olications, pro	ojects are scorec	l based on the	type of end ap	plication and			
	For soil applications, projects are scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on their pyrolysis type and average soil temperature range for their location.								

3.1.2.1.2.2 100-year Lifetime

100-year Lifetime relates to the durability of the embodied carbon in the biochar and its persistence over a 100-year timeframe.



The 100-year reference value has been selected an indicator of permanence duration for a project's stated permanence duration claims. Projects that produce high quality biochar combined with a secure end application can secure sufficient reliability for the stored carbon to persist within the 100-year lifetime.							
Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets		
\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, where 5 indicates that the stored carbon duration for the specific application is highly accurate and 1 indicates the stated duration has a higher risk of not being overestimated.							
A thorough project documentation review is completed to extract values for key project parameters like biochar quality and stated end-application. Individual project stated values assumptions are then compared with third-party data and estimates made by academic literature studies for the proportion of carbon loss expected over a 100-year duration. Specific project characteristics are considered such as the stability of the biochar and percentage of carbon loss over the stated lifetime for different soil temperatures. Specifically, for soil application, the type of pyrolysis, soil temperature range and impact on the permanence factor over a 100-year period is considered. More information on the expected carbon loss depending on these factors is provided in							
	The 100-year refor a project's sibiochar combinistored carbon to project arbon to project is duration for the duration for the duration has a A thorough proparameters like values assump academic literat duration. Specifically, for impact on the pinformation on Specifically for pinformation on Specifically	The 100-year reference value for a project's stated perman biochar combined with a sec stored carbon to persist with Project Documentation Geospatial Each project is scored on a se duration for the specific app duration has a higher risk of A thorough project documen parameters like biochar qual values assumptions are then academic literature studies of duration. Specific project cha biochar and percentage of co temperatures. Specifically, for soil application impact on the permanence of information on the expected	The 100-year reference value has been select for a project's stated permanence duration of biochar combined with a secure end applicat stored carbon to persist within the 100-yearProject DocumentationProject GeospatialProject Methodology DocumentationEach project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, w duration for the specific application is highly duration has a higher risk of not being overes Parameters like biochar quality and stated er values assumptions are then compared with academic literature studies for the proportion duration. Specific project characteristics are biochar and percentage of carbon loss over t temperatures.Specifically, for soil application, the type of p impact on the permanence factor over a 100 information on the expected carbon loss dep	The 100-year reference value has been selected an indicat for a project's stated permanence duration claims. Project biochar combined with a secure end application can secur stored carbon to persist within the 100-year lifetime.Project DocumentationGeospatialProject Methodology DocumentationAcademic LiteratureImage: Color of the specific application is highly accurate and duration has a higher risk of not being overestimated.A thorough project documentation review is completed to parameters like biochar quality and stated end-application values assumptions are then compared with third-party da academic literature studies for the proportion of carbon lo duration. Specific project characteristics are considered su biochar and percentage of carbon loss over the stated lifet temperatures.Specifically, for soil application, the type of pyrolysis, soil tr impact on the permanence factor over a 100-year period is information on the expected carbon loss depending on the expected carbon loss depending on the	The 100-year reference value has been selected an indicator of permanent for a project's stated permanence duration claims. Projects that produce biochar combined with a secure end application can secure sufficient reliststored carbon to persist within the 100-year lifetime.Project DocumentationGeospatialProject Methodology DocumentationAcademic LiteratureThird-party DataDocumentationGeospatialProject Methodology DocumentationAcademic LiteratureThird-party DataDocumentationGeospatialProject Methodology DocumentationAcademic LiteratureThird-party DataDocumentationGeospatialProject Methodology DocumentationAcademic LiteratureThird-party DataDocumentationGeospatialProject Methodology DocumentationAcademic LiteratureThird-party DataDocumentationFroject is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, where 5 indicates that the store duration for the specific application is highly accurate and 1 indicates the duration has a higher risk of not being overestimated.Athorough project documentation review is completed to extract values for parameters like biochar quality and stated end-application. Individual proj values assumptions are then compared with third-party data and estimate academic literature studies for the proportion of carbon loss expected ov duration. Specific project characteristics are considered such as the stabibiochar and percentage of carbon loss over the stated lifetime for different temperatures.Specifically, for soil application, the type of pyrolysis, soil temperature ran impact on the permanence factor over a 100-year period is considered. Methodology Documentation on the expected carbon loss depending on these factors is provide to the parameter of the period of th		

3.1.2.1.2.3 Other Permanence Risks

Other Permanence Risks relate to whether any other non-permanence risks exist that may impact the duration of the stored carbon.

Rationale	A project locate factors like wild due to the dama	A project located in an area which has a higher cumulative risk resulting from natural factors like wildfire, draught or flood that results in higher overall risk of carbon loss due to the damage that can done to the end application.						
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	MSCI Carbon Markets			
	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark			
Scoring Definition	The permanenc comparison of calculated risk	The permanence risk of each of area was scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on a comparison of a project's location and applicable risks against our third-party calculated risk values.						
Scoring Approach	A project docur location and the stored location risk relevant for	culated risk values. project documentation review is completed to extract data on the stored biochar cation and the stated end-application. For projects where information on the exact pred location is identified, our geospatial team modelled the fire, drought and flood k relevant for that location. For projects where specific information on the location of						



the storage is not available, third-party data from the International Energy Agency and ThinkHazard for the relevant country-level risk are used.

Three main elements of risk are considered:

- 1) Flood risk impacting the potential leakage of material into water bodies.
- 2) **Drought risk** relating to increased temperature devolatilization of the stored carbon.
- 3) **Wildfire risk** that could lead to release of the stored carbon back into the environment.

The overall score is then based on an average of these three risk scores.



8. Criterion 4 – Co-benefits

Co-benefits reflect the sustainable development benefits (and safeguards) of a project beyond the CO₂e it saves, in other words its "externalities." These environmental and societal externalities are typically positive but can, on occasion, be negative.

Carbon projects have the potential to reduce/remove CO₂e, and simultaneously have a broader positive societal impact via issues such as development, adaptation, and biodiversity.

Biochar projects have the potential to deliver significant social and environmental benefits outside of their emissions impact. On the environmental side, when applied to soil, biochar can significantly improve soil health, which can act as the foundation for a more diverse and richer ecosystem. Further, through improving soil health, biochar projects can improve the agricultural yield of land and reduce the need for fertilizer usage, therefore improving the economic outcomes of some farmers.

Our approach to co-benefit assessment builds on the UN's Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) framework. We focus on understanding both the SDG significance of a project and the extent to which the project provides evidence of these outcomes being achieved through effective monitoring.

Figure 10 illustrates the sub-criteria through which MSCI ESG Research assesses the co-benefits of biochar projects, and the Integrity Assessment framework sub-criteria that they refer to. The detailed sub-criteria are described in **Figure 11**.



Figure 10: Co-benefits integrity assessment approach



Figure 11: MSCI ESG Research Co-benefits integrity assessment framework

Sub-criteria Metrics Rationale					Renewables	ARR	Cookstoves	Biochar	Landfill Gas	Safe Water	IFM	Waste Mgmt.	Blue Carbon
ė	4.1.1 Project	4.1.1.1 Relevance to Project Type	Different project types have an inherently different impact on each sustainable ✓ Standardized approach development impact.										
efits Relevanc	Type Relevance	4.1.1.2 Contribution to Net Zero	Some project types create "carbon lock-ins" tof technologies or practices that are not compatible with a net zero economy.	✓ Standardized approach									
4.1 Co-bene	4.1.2 Project	4.1.2.1 Project Intentions to Activities	The specific design and implementation of a project's activities are critical drivers for whether a project generates positive sustainable development impact.	~	~	~	~	1	1	~	~	1	~
	Relevance	4.1.2.2 Biodiversity Value	Nature-based projects that enhance or protect areas of rich biodiversity have greater environmental value.	~		~					~		~
4.2	Co-benefits	4.2.1 Certification	Achieving certification involves more stringent project verification. This improves the likelihood that a project's co-benefits have been realized. ✓ Standardized approach					ch					
Evid	ence	4.2.2 Quantification of Outcomes	Projects can increase the evidence that co-benefits are attributed to their actions through measuring, monitoring, and quantifying the outcome.	~		~	~	~		~	~		~
		4.3.1 Project and Registry Safeguards	More effective environmental and social safeguards reduce the likelihood of projects causing harm.					~					
4.3	Sareguarus	4.3.2 Local Stakeholder Engagement	Projects that successfully engage with local stakeholders reduce the likelihood of any negative impacts occurring.		~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
4.4 Red and Green Flags News scanning			Review of academic papers, industry sources and the news for Red or Green Flags relating to project's co-benefits.	✓ Standardized approach									

4.1.2.1 Project Intentions to Activities

While biochar projects can impact a range of social or environmental goals, the significance of these co-benefits is heavily determined by the design of the production process, the properties of the biochar and its end application. A deep understanding of a project's activities and the biochar properties is therefore required in order to fully assess its co-benefit impact.



There are four categories of sustainable development impacts that are evaluated as part of this subcriterion:

- **4.1.2.1.1 Target SDGs:** Whether the project claims and targets a significant number of sustainable benefits, either SDGs or other benefits.
- **4.1.2.1.2 Circularity**: Whether the project supports more sustainable production through taking a circular approach to production and post-production.
- **4.1.2.1.3 Livelihoods Impact:** Whether the project supports and invests in local jobs and infrastructure.
- **4.1.2.1.4 Soil Health**: Whether the project positively directly impacts soil health, and indirectly improves agriculture and ecological wellbeing through these outcomes.

Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5 based on the evaluation of these metrics. Target SDGs is weighted 5%, Circularity 25%, Soil Health 50% and Livelihoods Impact 25%.

4.1.2.1.1 Target SDGs

Target SDGs refers to whether the project claims, and targets, a significant number of sustainable benefits, either SDGs or others.

Rationale	Aside from its e align with, and c that clearly state ensure that their	Aside from its emissions impact benefits, biochar has many other co-benefits that align with, and contribute to, the sustainable development goals. Project developers that clearly state and target certain development impacts can more appropriately ensure that their design is well set-up to achieve these outcomes.							
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
	\checkmark								
Scoring Definition	Each project is s carbon removal indicates that at specific to the p other project co	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 indicates no benefits other than carbon removals have been mentioned, and that no SDGs have been referred to; 3 indicates that at least 5 benefits have been listed, whether SDGs or other benefits specific to the project; 5 indicates that 10+ benefits have been listed, whether SDGs or other project co-benefits.							
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of each project's key documents to identify all the sustainable benefits of biochar application either explicitly or implicitly mentioned. These benefits tend to differ depending on the end-use, for example, when applied as a feed additive, biochar can aid the reduction of methane emissions, and improve water filtration, which contributes to SDG 6: Clean water and sanitation.								
	As many projects do not directly use SDGs (sustainable development goals), all sustainable development impacts implicitly mentioned are also considered. The score for each project is based on the total number of benefits (either SDGs or sustainable development impacts) identified, and scaled on a 1 to 5 basis.								

4.1.2.1.2 Circularity

Circularity relates to whether the project supports more sustainable production through taking a circular approach.



Rationale	The production of biochar can "close the gap" of production, by using a waste feedstock and producing several important by-products, which can be re-used during the pyrolysis stage. Projects that use a supply of waste biomass inputs support a more circular approach than those that do not, and therefore contribute to more sustainable production.							
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets		
	\checkmark							
Scoring Definition	Each project is approach and 5 byproducts hav	scored on a s 5 indicates th re been reuse	scale of 1 to 5, w at waste feedsto ed during the proc	here 1 indicato ck has been u cess, and that	es no proof of sed to create b these has beer	a circular viochar and n quantified.		
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of each individual project's key documents to identify three main circular approach characteristics: i) the source of the feedstock, ii) any by-products that were created during the process, and iii) whether the by-products were re-used. This is then combined (where available) with project data on the proportion of renewable electricity/syngas reused with third party literature to deduce what is best practice in terms of circularity.							

4.1.2.1.3 Livelihoods Impact

On top of the impacts on agricultural yields and agricultural income, biochar projects can also support superior livelihoods for the local community through its support for local jobs and infrastructure.

To assess a project's impact on livelihoods, two sub-criteria are considered:

- **4.1.2.1.3.1 Job Creation:** Whether the project supports material job creation through the life cycle of the project.
- **4.1.2.1.3.2 Community Impacts:** Whether the project directly or indirectly shares the proceeds of the carbon credits with the local community either through benefit sharing or investments in local infrastructure.

Each of these sub-criteria is assessed on a scale of 1 to 5, with the overall score based on a weighting of each. 4.1.3.3.1 Job Creation is weighted 35% and 4.1.3.3.2 Community Impacts is weighted 65%.

4.1.2.1.3.1 Job Creation

Job Creation relates to whether the project supports material job creation through the life cycle of the project.

Rationale Biochar is a nascent industry and has the potential to create jobs and training opportunities within its project. While most biochar projects will inherently support some job creation in the construction and production process, projects that measure and report this improve the transparency on the size of this outcome.



Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets				
	\checkmark									
Scoring Definition	Each project is provided, or tha either over 60 jo each kt CO2e re on jobs provide	Each project is scored on a 1 to 5 scale, where 5 indicates that over 150 jobs have been provided, or that over 5 jobs per kt CO ₂ e removed have been created; 3 indicates that either over 60 jobs have been provided, or that one job or more has been created for each kt CO ₂ e removed; and 1 indicates that the project has not provided information on jobs provided.								
 MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of each indicating documents to collect employment data, accounting for if employr if this was quantified. This is then combined with the number of configurate if stated, to deduce the number of jobs per kt CO₂e removed. Scoring Approach Projects are then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on the employm provide. Alongside this, the number of jobs is weighed against the credits that the project creates, in order to scale the creation of CO2e removed. 	MSCI ESG Res documents to c if this was quar if stated, to ded	search cond collect employ ntified. This is luce the num	ucts a detailed yment data, acco s then combined ber of jobs per kt	review of e punting for if e with the numb t CO ₂ e remove	ach individual mployment wa per of carbon c ed.	project's key is created, and redits created,				
	nployment pote gainst the num ition of work ir	ential that they Iber of carbon Ito jobs per kt								

4.1.2.1.3.2 Community Impacts

Community Impacts relates to whether the project directly or indirectly shares the proceeds of the carbon credits with the local community either through benefit sharing or investments in local infrastructure.

Rationale	Biochar projects have the potential to improve the livelihoods of local communities and farmers, by offering local employment, creating economic development, and by subsidizing biochar for farmers who are often not in the financial position to afford to buy it.						
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets	
	\checkmark						
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a 1 to 5 scale, where 5 indicates that the project explicitly creates economic development, provides local employment and ensures that biochar reaches local communities; 3 indicates that one of these three factors had been met; and 1 indicates that no data has been provided.						
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research collects qualitative data on benefit sharing. The presence and relevance of three factors related to the economic impact of the projects are identified i) whether it has supported local economic development; ii) whether it directly support local community initiatives; iii) whether it directly supports local employment.						

4.1.2.1.4 Soil Health

Biochar is regularly stored in soil applications. The storage of biochar within soil can significantly impact (and positively improve) the health of the soil, leading to numerous second-order benefits.



Over 90% of biochar projects analyzed so far are used as a soil amendment, as their primary or secondary end use. This criterion is therefore only relevant for a portion of projects, albeit the vast majority.

To assess a project's impact on soil health, three sub-criteria are considered:

- **4.1.1.4.1 Direct soil benefit:** Whether the project directly targets soil benefits, and whether this aligns with the feedstock used in connection with the end use.
- **4.1.1.4.2 Inherent soil benefit:** Whether the project will inherently produce soil benefits from the biochar application given the feedstock used, and soil type.
- **4.1.1.4.3 Agricultural yields and fertilizer:** Whether the project positively impacts crop yields and fertilizer usage through its application to soil.

Each of these sub-criteria is assessed on a scale of 1 to 5, with the overall score based on a weighting of each. 4.1.3.2.1 Direct soil benefit is weighted 45%, 4.1.3.2.2 Inherent soil benefit is weighted 35% and 4.1.3.2.3 Agricultural yields and fertilizer is weighted 20%.

4.1.2.1.4.1 Direct soil benefit

Direct soil benefit refers to whether the project directly targets soil benefits, and whether this aligns with the feedstock used in connection with the end-use.

Rationale	Biochar has the that target thes feedstock used	Biochar has the potential to have significant positive effects on soil health. Projects that target these benefits and ensure that the targets are appropriately aligned to the feedstock used will maximize the potential for these impacts to be realized.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets				
·	\checkmark			\checkmark						
Scoring Definition	Each project is suitable for the listed; 3 indicate health qualities use but this has the project's fee health improver	Each project is scored on a 1 to 5 scale, where 5 indicates that the feedstock used is suitable for the end-use of the biochar, and that multiple soil health qualities have been listed; 3 indicates that either the feedstock is suitable for the end-use but fewer soil health qualities have been mentioned, or that the feedstock is not suitable for the end-use but this has been offset by assurance of soil health factors; and 1 indicates that the project's feedstock is not suitable for the end-use and there is little evidence of soil health improvement.								
	MSCI ESG Research extracts information on which types of soil health benefits projects target and measure, focusing on five main potential benefits: i) increased cation exchange; ii) greater nutrient capacity; iii) increasing soil pH; iv) improved water retention capacity; v) reduction of reliance on fertilizer.									
Scoring Approach	The number of categorized into	impacts targ o 3 main grou	eted and measur ups based on this	ed by projects count: 0 bene	are counted, v efits, 1-4 and 5-	vith projects +.				
	This is then ser mentioned is re	ise-checked l levant and si	by using academ uitable based on	ic references the feedstock	to ensure that e and end-applic	each benefit cation.				
	The overall sco application and	re is then bas the evidence	sed on the suitab e provided by the	ility of the fee project on the	dstock type for soil health be	the end nefits.				



4.1.2.1.4.2 Inherent soil benefit

Inherent soil benefit refers to whether the project will inherently produce soil benefits from the biochar application given the feedstock used, and soil type.

Rationale	The impacts of biochar on soil health depend significantly on both the type of feedstock used and soil type in which the biochar is stored. Certain combinations of feedstock type and soil type will have inherently higher benefits on soil health than other combinations.								
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets			
		\checkmark		\checkmark					
Scoring Definition	Each project is highly suitable significant bene that soil type, o and 1 indicates	scored on a for the type o efits; 3 indica r that the typ that the feed	I to 5 scale, when f soil that the bio tes that either th e of soil sees les Istock is not suit	re 5 indicates ochar is applie e feedstock is s positive resu able for the ty	that the feedst d in and likely t not suitable fo ults from bioch pe of soil it is u	ock used is to generate or end use in ar application; utilized in.			
	MSCI ESG Research extracts information on the feedstock being used in each project, grouped these into the following categories: agricultural residues, wood residues, forestry waste, organic waste, industrial waste, dedicated energy crops and manure.								
Scoring Approach	The soil type is data set of the mapped to the	then categor Köppen-Geig country of th	ized as fertile, se er classifications e project.	emi-fertile or a s of the five cli	rid, based on a mate types, wh	n updated nich are then			
	Each project is then scored on a 1 to 5 scale based on these two factors.								

4.1.2.1.4.3 Agricultural yields and fertilizer

Agricultural yields and fertilizer relates to whether the project positively impacts crop yields and fertilizer usage through its application to soil.

Rationale	Projects should account for the amount of fertilizer reduction that biochar application allows, as well as the yield increase. Quantifying this allows the project to exemplify the co-benefits that the biochar is having.						
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets	
	\checkmark			\checkmark			
Scoring Definition	Each project is quantitatively e 1 indicates tha reduction.	Each project is scored on a 1 to 5 scale, where 5 indicates that the project has quantitatively estimated significant increases in yields and reductions in fertilizer, while 1 indicates that there would be no positive effect on agricultural yield or fertilizer reduction.					



The approach to assessing this sub-criterion analyses both agricultural yield and fertilizer usage. Through a detailed review of project documentation, MSCI ESG Research compiled information on both issues.

Based on various academic studies, projects that did not quantify a yield increase are assumed to have a minimum 5% yield increase.¹⁰

Scoring Approach Projects that did state fertilizer reduction but did not quantify this were assumed to have a minimum 5% fertilizer reduction. Projects that did not state or quantify fertilizer reduction were assumed to have a minimum 3% fertilizer reduction, based on assumptions informed by academic sources.

The overall score was then based on an equal weighting of both factors. If only one was available, then the score for this factor was taken.

4.2.2 Quantification of Outcomes

Quantification of outcomes relates to whether the project monitors and/or quantifies the impact of the project on targeted sustainable development goals.

Rationale	Assessing the which these ca their co-benefit environmental	Assessing the evidence of co-benefit impacts is crucial to evaluating the degree to which these can be attributed to a project. Projects that measure, quantify, and monitor heir co-benefit impacts provide greater evidence in support of their targeted social and environmental effects.						
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets		
	\checkmark							
Scoring Definition	Each project is or monitoring c	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 indicates there is no quantification or monitoring of SDGs and 5 indicates that benefits are quantified and monitored.						
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Rese and/or monitor	MSCI ESG Research assesses the level to which co-benefits have been quantified and/or monitored.						

4.3.1 Project and Registry Safeguards

Since biochar projects do not have a comprehensive amount of data publicly available, a baseline level of mitigation for potential negative impacts is necessary, to ensure that nothing has slipped through the cracks of the integrity assessment.

This is evaluated through the following sub-criteria:

¹⁰ Campion, L., Bekchanova, M., Malina, R., Kuppens, T., (2023) "The costs and benefits of biochar production and use: A systematic review," Journal of Cleaner Production, Volume 408, 2023, 137138, ISSN 0959-6526. [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2023.137138]; Zilberman, D., Laird, D., Rainey, C., Song, J., & Kahn, G. (2023). "Biochar supply-chain and challenges to commercialization." GCB Bioenergy, 15, 7-23. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12952.



- **4.3.1.1 Certifications:** Whether the project received European Biochar Certificate (EBC) or International Biochar Initiative (IBI) certification, and has clearly evidenced this
- 4.3.1.2: Negative impacts mitigation: Has the project mitigated negative effects adequately?

Each of these sub-criteria is assessed on a scale of 1 to 5, with the overall score based on a weighting of each.

4.3.1.1 Certification

Certifications refer to whether the project received EBC or IBI certification and has clearly evidenced this.

Rationale	There are sever awarded for the Projects that ha quality environ	There are several internationally renowned certifications for biochar, which are only awarded for the best quality standards and involve rigorous sampling and monitoring. Projects that have received EBC and/or IBI certification are more likely to have good quality environmental safeguards in place.						
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets		
	\checkmark				\checkmark			
Scoring Definition	Each project is mentioned and received.	Each project is scored on a 2 to 5 scale, where 5 indicates that certification has been mentioned and certified, while 2 indicates no certification appears to have yet been received.						
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research reviews EBC standards to assess which projects had or had not received this certification.							
	Projects are the	en scored bas	sed on the preser	nce of these c	ertifications.			

4.3.1.2 Negative impacts mitigation

Projects own self-assessment of potentially negative impacts is integral to a good project, in order to ensure that these are avoided.

Rationale	Projects should ensure that the process of producing biochar is carefully manage ensure a positive outcome. They should also be aware of the end use of their bio product, ensuring that it is well-suited to this use.							
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets		
	\checkmark							
Scoring Definition	Each project is indicates that t	scored eithe here is a clea	r 1 or 5, where 1 i Ir mitigation proc	ndicates there edure implem	e is no mitigatio ented by the pr	on and 5 oject.		
Scoring Approach	Through a con identify whether the project thro the processing	and the project. The project is a clear mitigation procedure implemented by the project. The project documentation, MSCI ESG Resear- tentify whether any potential negative impacts had been recognized and mitigated the project through all parts of its processes: pre-processing account for the feeds to be the processing during pyrolysis, and the post-process end use of the biochar.						



4.3.2 Local Stakeholder Engagement

Though biochar projects do not tend to be community-led, projects that put additional resources and time into consulting with their local communities and modifying their design/operations to suit locals are more likely to realize their social objectives.

This is evaluated through the following sub-criteria:

- 4.3.2.1 Effective Consultation: How effective was the consultation conducted?
- **4.3.2.2 Representation and Inclusivity:** Has the project ensured proper and inclusive representation of stakeholders?
- 4.3.2.3 Access to Information: Has the project relayed relevant information to stakeholders?
- **4.3.2.4 Feedback and Grievances:** Does the project display effective feedback and grievance redressal mechanisms?

Each project is scored on a 1 to 5 scale for each of these sub-criteria. An overall score for criterion 4.3.2 is then reached by weighting effective consultation and representation and inclusivity by 35% each and access to information and feedback and grievance 15% each. Projects scoring a 5 will represent projects that undertake detailed stakeholder consultations that are representative of the target users.

4.3.2.1 Effective Consultation

Effective consultation relates to whether the project uses best-practice techniques to engage and consult with stakeholders.

Rationale	Projects that engage with stakeholders towards the start of a project's conception and use multiple methods of in-person consultation provide more open and effective channels to engage with stakeholders and receive any feedback.						
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Project Geospatial Methodology Literature		Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets	
	\checkmark						
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5 scale, where 5 indicates that the project appeared to conduct effective in-person engagements prior to its start, and 1 indicates that very limited in-person stakeholder consultation seemed to have been performed prior to the start of the project or thereafter.						
	Through a detailed review of key project documents, three main components of stakeholder consultation effectiveness are assessed.				ents of		
Scoring Approach	First, the initial date of stakeholder consultation is compared to the project start date. Second, the types and range of consultation conducted are considered. Third, the frequency that ongoing consultation is conducted is assessed.						

4.3.2.2 Representation and Inclusivity

Representation and Inclusivity relates to whether the project has ensured that it consults with a representative and inclusive range of stakeholders.



Rationale	Projects which consult a greater number of stakeholders tend to incorporate more representative feedback and ensure that they are designed with a representative set of stakeholder interests in mind.					
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets
-	\checkmark					
Scoring Definition	Each project is transparently c while 1 indicate consulted.	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5, where 5 indicates that a project transparently consults with a representative group of stakeholders, including women, while 1 indicates that no information is provided on the which stakeholders were consulted.				
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research assesses the number of stakeholders in attendance, and the proportion of stakeholders that are male and female.					

4.3.2.3 Access to Information

Access to Information refers to whether the project provides transparent and comprehensive information to (local) stakeholders regarding its activities.

Rationale	By providing greater access to information, stakeholders will be better informed on a project's activities and more able to provide feedback to the project.					
Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets
	\checkmark					
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5 scale, where 5 indicates that a project provides very transparent access to information through both documentation and inperson meetings, and 1 indicates that limited access to information is provided to stakeholders.					
Scoring Approach	MSCI ESG Research conducts a detailed review of relevant project documentation to understand whether in-person meetings were conducted to present project information or whether clear documentation was/is provided.					

4.3.2.4 Feedback and Grievance

Feedback and Grievance refers to whether the project has procedures in place to receive and act on feedback received from stakeholders.

RationaleBy providing (local) stakeholders with a clear feedback mechanism and committing to
disclose and act on this feedback, then projects are more likely to satisfy the needs of
stakeholders by both listening and responding to their feedback.



Key Sources	Project Documentation	Geospatial	Project Methodology Documentation	Academic Literature	Third-party Data	MSCI Carbon Markets
	\checkmark					
Scoring Definition	Each project is scored on a scale of 1 to 5 scale, where 5 indicates that a project provides very transparent access to information through both its documentation and the holding of in-person meetings, and 1 indicates that stakeholders appear to have only limited access to information.					
Scoring Approach	 Three aspects of a project's feedback procedure are assessed: Feedback Mechanism: Whether a project has a feedback and grievance procedure in place. Feedback Disclosure: Whether a project transparently discloses any feedback received. Feedback Response: Whether a project has clearly acted on any feedback received. 					



9. Appendix – Soil Application Permanence

Biochar removals are generally considered to have a high permanence. But some carbon is lost over time. The pace of carbon loss depends primarily on the pyrolysis temperature and soil temperature: a high pyrolysis and low soil temperature results in the greatest permanence/lowest rate of carbon loss.

Based on academic sources¹¹, the estimated carbon loss for projects with different characteristics is shown in Figure 12.

Figure 12: Estimated carbon loss over different time periods based on the biochar pyrolysis and soil temperature

<u>% Carbon Loss</u>		10	0-year Durati	on	500-year Duration			1,000-year Duration		
					So	il Temperatu	ıre			
		5°C - 10°C	10ºC - 15ºC	15ºC - 25ºC	5∘C - 10∘C	10ºC - 15ºC	15ºC - 25ºC	5°C - 10°C	10ºC - 15ºC	15ºC - 25ºC
Pyrolysis Temperature	High Stability (400°C+)	6%	12%	18%	37%	50%	60%	57%	69%	77%
	Medium Stability (300-400°C)	10%	18%	25%	45%	57%	66%	64%	73%	79%
	Low Stability (<300°C)	12%	21%	30%	54%	65%	71%	70%	90%	95%
		Increasing Risk		Increasing Risk		sk	Increasing Risk		sk	

¹¹ Woolf, Dominic, et al (2021). "Greenhouse Gas Inventory Model for Biochar Additions to Soil." Environmental Science & Technology, vol. 55, no. 21, Nov. 2021, pp. 14795–805, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c02425.



10. Appendix – Key References

Lefebvre, David, et al. "Biomass Residue to Carbon Dioxide Removal: Quantifying the Global Impact of Biochar." *Biochar*, vol. 5, no. 1, Oct. 2023, p. 65, https://doi.org/10.1007/s42773-023-00258-2.

Beck, H., Zimmermann, N., McVicar, T et al. (2018). "Present and future Köppen-Geiger climate classification maps at 1-km resolution." *Scientific Data* 5, 180214. [https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.214]

Nematian, Maryam & Keske, Catherine & Ng'ombe, John. (2021). "A techno-economic analysis of biochar production and the bioeconomy for orchard biomass." *Waste Management*. 135. 467-477. 10.1016/j.wasman.2021.09.014.

Brown, R.W., Chadwick, D.R., Bott, T. et al. (2023). "Biochar application to temperate grasslands: challenges and opportunities for delivering multiple ecosystem services." *Biochar* 5, 33 [https://doi.org/10.1007/s42773-023-00232-y]

Campion, L., Bekchanova, M., Malina, R., Kuppens, T., (2023) "The costs and benefits of biochar production and use: A systematic review," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Volume 408, 2023, 137138, ISSN 0959-6526. [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2023.137138]

Woolf, Dominic, et al. "Greenhouse Gas Inventory Model for Biochar Additions to Soil." *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 55, no. 21, Nov. 2021, pp. 14795–805, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c02425.

Yaashikaa, P. R., et al. "A Critical Review on the Biochar Production Techniques, Characterization, Stability and Applications for Circular Bioeconomy." *Biotechnology Reports*, vol. 28, 2020, p. e00570, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2020.e00570.

McLaren, Duncan. "A Comparative Global Assessment of Potential Negative Emissions Technologies." *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, vol. 90, no. 6, 2012, pp. 489–500, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2012.10.005.

Brown, Tristan R., et al. "Estimating Profitability of Two Biochar Production Scenarios: Slow Pyrolysis vs Fast Pyrolysis." *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, vol. 5, no. 1, 2011, pp. 54–68, https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.254.

Homagin, K et al., (2016) Life Cycle Cost and Economic Assessment of Biochar-Based Bioenergy Production and Biochar Land Application in Northwestern Ontario, Canada.

Ippolito, J.A., Cui, L., Kammann, C. et al. "Feedstock choice, pyrolysis temperature and type influence biochar characteristics: a comprehensive meta-data analysis review." *Biochar* 2, 421–438 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s42773-020-00067-x.

Jahirul MI, Rasul MG, Chowdhury AA, Ashwath N. (2012) "Biofuels Production through Biomass Pyrolysis — A Technological Review." *Energies.*; 5(12):4952-5001. https://doi.org/10.3390/en51249.

Li, L., Long, A., Fossum, B., & Kaiser, M. (2023). "Effects of pyrolysis temperature and feedstock type on biochar characteristics pertinent to soil carbon and soil health: A meta-analysis." *Soil Use and Management*, 39, 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/sum.12848.

McLaren D., (2012) "A comparative global assessment of potential negative emissions technologies," *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, Volume 90, Issue 6, Pages 489-500, ISSN 0957-5820, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2012.10.005

Naeem, M A., (2014). "Yield and Nutrient Composition of Biochar produced from different feedstocks at varying pyrolytic temperatures." *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences*. 51. 75-82.



Pecha, B., Hills, K M., Garcia-Perez, M., Hunt, J., Miles, T R., Wilson, K., and Amonette, J. E. (2022). "Chapter 11: Biochar Production." In *Biomass to Biochar: Maximizing the Carbon Value*. Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources.

Schmidt HP, Abiven S, Hagemann N, Meyer zu Drewer (2022) "Permanence of soil applied biochar," Biochar Journal, Arbaz, Switzerland. www.biochar-journal.org/en/ct/109.

Lehmann, Johannes, and Stephen Joseph, editors. (2009) *Biochar for Environmental Management: Science and Technology*. Earthscan.

Shackley, S., & Sohi, S. (2010). An Assessment of the Benefits and Issues Associated with the Application of Biochar to Soil. UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and Department of Energy and Climate Change.

Smith, S. M. et al. (2023). The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal - 1st Edition. https://www.stateofcdr.org.

Tisserant, A., Cherubini, F., (2019) "Potentials, Limitations, Co-Benefits, and Trade-Offs of Biochar Applications to Soils for Climate Change Mitigation" *Land* 8, no. 12: 179. https://doi.org/10.3390/land8120179.

Tisserant, A., Morales, M., Cavalett, O., O'Toole, A., Weldon, S., Rasse, D. P., Cherubini, F., (2022) "Life-cycle assessment to unravel co-benefits and trade-offs of large-scale biochar deployment in Norwegian agriculture," *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, Volume 179, 106030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.106030.

Zhang, C. et al. (2019) "Biochar for environmental management: mitigating greenhouse gas emissions, contaminant treatment, and potential negative impacts," *Chemical Engineering Journal*. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cej.2019.05.13.

Zilberman, D., Laird, D., Rainey, C., Song, J., & Kahn, G. (2023). "Biochar supply-chain and challenges to commercialization." *GCB Bioenergy*, 15, 7-23. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12952.



11. Change log

Date	Key Changes
19-Sep-2024	Initial publication
	-



Contact us

msci.com/contact-us

AMERICAS

United States	+ 1 888 588 4567 *
Canada	+ 1 416 687 6270
Brazil	+ 55 11 4040 7830
Mexico	+ 52 81 1253 4020

EUROPE, MIDDLE EAST & AFRICA

South Africa	+ 27 21 673 0103
Germany	+ 49 69 133 859 00
Switzerland	+ 41 22 817 9777
United Kingdom	+ 44 20 7618 2222
Italy	+ 39 02 5849 0415
France	+ 33 17 6769 810

ASIA PACIFIC

China	+ 86 21 61326611
Hong Kong	+ 852 2844 9333
India	+ 91 22 6784 9160
Malaysia	1800818185 *
South Korea	+ 82 70 4769 4231
Singapore	+ 65 67011177
Australia	+ 612 9033 9333
Taiwan	008 0112 7513 *
Thailand	0018 0015 6207 7181 3
Japan	+ 81 3 4579 0333
* toll-free	

About MSCI

MSCI is a leading provider of critical decision support tools and services for the global investment community. With over 50 years of expertise in research, data and technology, we power better investment decisions by enabling clients to understand and analyze key drivers of risk and return and confidently build more effective portfolios. We create industry-leading researchenhanced solutions that clients use to gain insight into and improve transparency across the investment process.

About MSCI ESG Research Products and Services

MSCI ESG Research products and services are provided by MSCI ESG Research LLC, and are designed to provide in-depth research, Ratings and analysis of environmental, social and governancerelated business practices to companies worldwide. ESG Ratings, data and analysis from MSCI ESG Research LLC. are also used in the construction of the MSCI ESG Indexes. MSCI ESG Research LLC is a Registered Investment Adviser under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and a subsidiary of MSCI Inc.

To learn more, please visit www.msci.com.



Notice and disclaimer

This document is research for informational purposes only and is intended for institutional professionals with the analytical resources and tools necessary to interpret any performance information. Nothing herein is intended to promote or recommend any product, tool or service.

This document and all of the information contained in it, including without limitation all text, data, graphs, charts (collectively, the "Information") is the property of MSCI Inc. or its subsidiaries (collectively, "MSCI"), or MSCI's licensors, direct or indirect suppliers or any third party involved in making or compiling any Information (collectively, with MSCI, the "Information Providers") and is provided for informational purposes only. The Information may not be modified, reverse-engineered, reproduced or redisseminated in whole or in part without prior written permission from MSCI. All rights in the Information are reserved by MSCI and/or its Information Providers.

The Information may not be used to create derivative works or to verify or correct other data or information. For example (but without limitation), the Information may not be used to create indexes, databases, risk models, analytics, software, or in connection with the issuing, offering, sponsoring, managing or marketing of any securities, portfolios, financial products or other investment vehicles utilizing or based on, linked to, tracking or otherwise derived from the Information or any other MSCI data, information, products or services.

The user of the Information assumes the entire risk of any use it may make or permit to be made of the Information. NONE OF THE INFORMATION PROVIDERS MAKES ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE INFORMATION (OR THE RESULTS TO BE OBTAINED BY THE USE THEREOF), AND TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH INFORMATION PROVIDER EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF ORIGINALITY, ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, NON-INFRINGEMENT, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE) WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE INFORMATION.

Without limiting any of the foregoing and to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, in no event shall any Information Provider have any liability regarding any of the Information for any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential (including lost profits) or any other damages even if notified of the possibility of such damages. The foregoing shall not exclude or limit any liability that may not by applicable law be excluded or limited, including without limitation (as applicable), any liability for death or personal injury to the extent that such injury results from the negligence or willful default of itself, its servants, agents or sub-contractors.

Information containing any historical information, data or analysis should not be taken as an indication or guarantee of any future performance, analysis, forecast or prediction. Past performance does not guarantee future results.

The Information may include "Signals," defined as quantitative attributes or the product of methods or formulas that describe or are derived from calculations using historical data. Neither these Signals nor any description of historical data are intended to provide investment advice or a recommendation to make (or refrain from making) any investment decision or asset allocation and should not be relied upon as such. Signals are inherently backward-looking because of their use of historical data, and they are not intended to predict the future. The relevance, correlations and accuracy of Signals frequently will change materially.

The Information should not be relied on and is not a substitute for the skill, judgment and experience of the user, its management, employees, advisors and/or clients when making investment and other business decisions. All Information is impersonal and not tailored to the needs of any person, entity or group of persons.

None of the Information constitutes an offer to sell (or a solicitation of an offer to buy), any security, financial product or other investment vehicle or any trading strategy.

It is not possible to invest directly in an index. Exposure to an asset class or trading strategy or other category represented by an index is only available through third party investable instruments (if any) based on that index. MSCI does not issue, sponsor, endorse, market, offer, review or otherwise express any opinion regarding any fund, ETF, derivative or other security, investment, financial product or trading strategy that is based on, linked to or seeks to provide an investment return related to the performance of any MSCI index (collectively, "Index Linked Investments"). MSCI makes no assurance that any Index Linked Investments will accurately track index performance or provide positive investment returns. MSCI Inc. is not an investment adviser or fiduciary and MSCI makes no representation regarding the advisability of investing in any Index Linked Investments.

Index returns do not represent the results of actual trading of investible assets/securities. MSCI maintains and calculates indexes, but does not manage actual assets. The calculation of indexes and index returns may deviate from the stated methodology. Index returns do not reflect payment of any sales charges or fees an investor may pay to purchase the securities underlying the index or Index Linked Investments. The imposition of these fees and charges would cause the performance of an Index Linked Investment to be different than the MSCI index performance.

The Information may contain back tested data. Back-tested performance is not actual performance, but is hypothetical. There are frequently material differences between back tested performance results and actual results subsequently achieved by any investment strategy.

Constituents of MSCI equity indexes are listed companies, which are included in or excluded from the indexes according to the application of the relevant index methodologies. Accordingly, constituents in MSCI equity indexes may include MSCI Inc., clients of MSCI or suppliers to MSCI. Inclusion of a security within an MSCI index is not a recommendation by MSCI to buy, sell, or hold such security, nor is it considered to be investment advice.

Data and information produced by various affiliates of MSCI Inc., including MSCI ESG Research LLC and Barra LLC, may be used in calculating certain MSCI indexes. More information can be found in the relevant index methodologies on www.msci.com.

MSCI receives compensation in connection with licensing its indexes to third parties. MSCI Inc.'s revenue includes fees based on assets in Index Linked Investments. Information can be found in MSCI Inc.'s company filings on the Investor Relations section of msci.com.

MSCI ESG Research LLC is a Registered Investment Adviser under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and a subsidiary of MSCI Inc. Neither MSCI nor any of its products or services recommends, endorses, approves or otherwise expresses any opinion regarding any issuer, securities, financial products or instruments or trading strategies and MSCI's products or services are not a recommendation to make (or refrain from making) any kind of investment decision and may not be relied on as such, provided that applicable products or services from MSCI ESG Research may constitute investment advice. MSCI ESG Research materials, including materials utilized in any MSCI ESG Indexes or other products, have not been submitted to, nor received approval from, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or any other regulatory body. MSCI ESG and climate ratings, research and data are produced by MSCI ESG Research LLC, a subsidiary of MSCI Inc. MSCI ESG Indexes, Analytics and Real Estate are products of MSCI Inc. that utilize information from MSCI ESG Research LLC. MSCI Indexes are administered by MSCI Limited (UK) and MSCI Deutschland GmbH.

Please note that the issuers mentioned in MSCI ESG Research materials sometimes have commercial relationships with MSCI ESG Research and/or MSCI Inc. (collectively, "MSCI") and that these relationships create potential conflicts of interest. In some cases, the issuers or their affiliates purchase research or other products or services from one or more MSCI affiliates. In other cases, MSCI ESG Research rates financial products such as mutual funds or ETFs that are managed by MSCI's clients or their affiliates, or are based on MSCI Inc. Indexes. In addition, constituents in MSCI Inc. equity indexes include companies that subscribe to MSCI products or services. In some cases, MSCI clients pay fees based in whole or part on the assets they



manage. MSCI ESG Research has taken a number of steps to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and safeguard the integrity and independence of its research and ratings. More information about these conflict mitigation measures is available in our Form ADV, available at https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/firm/summary/169222.

Any use of or access to products, services or information of MSCI requires a license from MSCI. MSCI, Barra, RiskMetrics, IPD and other MSCI brands and product names are the trademarks, service marks, or registered trademarks of MSCI or its subsidiaries in the United States and other jurisdictions. The Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS) was developed by and is the exclusive property of MSCI and S&P Global Market Intelligence. "Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS)" is a service mark of MSCI and S&P Global Market Intelligence.

MIFID2/MIFIR notice: MSCI ESG Research LLC does not distribute or act as an intermediary for financial instruments or structured deposits, nor does it deal on its own account, provide execution services for others or manage client accounts. No MSCI ESG Research product or service supports, promotes or is intended to support or promote any such activity. MSCI ESG Research is an independent provider of ESG data.

Privacy notice: For information about how MSCI collects and uses personal data, please refer to our Privacy Notice at https://www.msci.com/privacy-pledge.